Dendrimers in Supramolecular Chemistry: From Molecular Recognition to Self-Assembly

Fanwen Zeng and Steven C. Zimmerman*

Department of Chemistry, 600 South Mathews Avenue, University of Illinois, Urbana, Illinois 61801

Received January 8, 1997 (Revised Manuscript Received April 12, 1997)

Contents

I.	Introduction	1681
II.	Dendrimers in Molecular Recognition	1682
	A. Complexation in Dendrimer "Interiors"	1683
	1. Hydrophobic Interior Binding	1683
	2. Interior Hydrogen Bonding	1685
	3. Interior Metal-Ligand Coordination	1686
	4. Physical Encapsulation	1689
	B. Complexation at Dendrimer "Surfaces"	1690
	1. Electrostatic Interactions	1690
	2. Multiligand Dendrimers	1692
	3. Other Examples	1695
III.	Dendrimers as Building Blocks for Self-Assembly	1695
	Processes	
	A. Self-Assembly Mediated by Nondirectional	1695
	Forces	4005
	Dendniic Amphiphiles Solf Organization in Liquid Crystelling	1090
	Phases	1099
	3. Self-Assembly by π -Stacking Interactions	1701
	B. Hydrogen Bond-Mediated Self-Assembly	1701
	C. Metal Complexation-Mediated Self-Assembly	1703
	 Dendrimers with Coordination Centers on the Periphery 	1704
	2. Dendrimers with Coordination Centers throughout All Lavers	1706
	D. Self-Assembly of Dendritic Monolayers and Multilayers	1707
IV.	Conclusions and Future Developments	1708
V.	Acknowledgments	1709
VI.	References	1709

I. Introduction

Dendrimers, also known as arborols, or cascade, cauliflower, or starburst polymers are attracting increasing attention because of their unique structures and properties.¹⁻⁶ These aesthetically appealing synthetic macromolecules distinguish themselves from normal polymers in two critical ways. First, they are constructed from AB_n monomers (*n* usually 2 or 3) rather than the standard AB monomers which produce linear polymers. Thus, they contain hyperbranched structures. Secondly, they are synthesized in an iterative fashion. The combination of these two features leads to a nonlinear, stepwise synthetic growth wherein the number of monomer units incorporated in each successive iteration roughly doubles (AB_2) or triples (AB_3) that in the previous cycle. In one of the main synthetic approaches to dendrimers (vide infra), each repetition cycle leads to the addition of one more layer of branches—called a *generation*—to the dendrimer framework. Therefore, the generation number of the dendrimer is equal to the number of repetition cycles performed, and may be easily determined by counting the number of branch points as one proceeds from the core to the periphery.

An appropriately activated AB_n monomer may be polymerized in a single step, but the resulting polymer will have a higher polydispersity (PD) and a lower degree of branching than an analogous dendrimer.^{5,7} Such macromolecules are called *hy*perbranched polymers. Of course, the iterative synthesis of linear polymers is well known, for example, the Merrifield solid-phase peptide synthesis method,⁸ but these methods are normally limited in the number of subunits that can be linked in high yield and purity. The hallmark of dendrimer synthesis is ability to synthesize in a controlled manner very high molecular weight polymers with narrower molecular weight distributions. Indeed, smaller dendrimers (e.g., MW 10–50 kDa) are often produced from short syntheses and are available as single compounds (polydispersity, PD = 1.0) not mixtures which are characterized by a Gaussian distribution of polymer molecular weights. Equally impressive is the fact that considerably larger macromolecules can be synthesized with a few extra steps. Thus, dendrimers with molecular weights over a 10³ kDa and molecular dimensions in the 1-100 nm range have been synthesized, although unlike the smaller dendrimers these are not very homogeneous compounds.

Since the initial report on this class of molecules by Vögtle in 1978, many different structural classes of dendritic macromolecules have been reported. Indeed, the structural diversity in the repeat units is impressive, ranging from pure hydrocarbons to peptides to coordination compounds. Less than a handful of these have been routinely synthesized in gram quantity in different laboratories. Arguably the two most commonly used dendrimers, the poly-(amidoamine) (PAMAM) dendrimers **1** and poly-(propylene imine) dendrimers **2**, have been produced industrially and both are commercially available.

Two main synthetic strategies for synthesizing dendrimers have emerged over the past decade: the divergent and convergent approaches. In the divergent strategy, which was pioneered by Newkome and Tomalia (*vide infra*), dendrimers are built from the central core out to the periphery. In each repeat cycle some number of reactive groups, *n*, on the dendrimer periphery react with *n* monomer units to add a new layer or generation to the dendrimer. In the next repeat cycle 2*n* or 3*n* reactive sites will be available



Fanwen Zeng was born in Fujian, China, and received his B.S. degree from Nanjing University in 1987 and an M.S. from the Shanghai Institute of Organic Chemistry, Chinese Academy of Sciences, in 1990. He worked in the Fuzhou Institute of Chemical Industry before he came to the United States in 1992 to continue his graduate studies. He attended the University of Illinois at Urbana—Champaign where he received his Ph.D. in February of 1997 under the guidance of Professor Steven C. Zimmerman. After a temporary postdoctoral position in the same group, he will join Professor Peter G. Schultz's research group as a postdoctoral research associate. Dr. Fanwen Zeng's research interests range from bioorganic chemistry to supramolecular chemistry.



Steven C. Zimmerman was born in Chicago in 1957, the second son of the world-renowned organic chemist, Howard E. Zimmerman. He attended public schools in Madison and then the University of Wisconsin, where he received a B.S. degree in 1979 working for Hans Reich. In 1983 he received a Ph.D. at Columbia University in New York City where he worked with Ronald Breslow on pyridoxamine enzyme analogs. After an NSF-NATO Postdoctoral Fellowship at the University of Cambridge with Sir Alan R. Battersby, he joined the faculty at the University of Illinois (1985). He was promoted to Full Professor in 1994. Professor Zimmerman has been the recipient of an American Cancer Society Junior Faculty Award (1986–1989), NSF Presidential Young Investigator Award (1990), Camille and Henry Dreyfus Teacher-Scholar Award (1989-1992), Alfred P. Sloan Fellowship (1992–1993), Buck-Whitney Award from the Eastern New York Section of American Chemical Society (1995), and an Arthur C. Cope Scholar Award from the American Chemical Society (1997). He has also won teaching awards at the University of Illinois. His research interests are in the area of molecular recognition, self-assembly, and catalysis using both small molecules and dendrimers. He currently resides in a suburb of Champaign with his wife Sharon, and their two daughters, Arielle and Elena.

depending on whether the monomer unit's branch multiplicity is 2 or 3 (i.e., AB₂ vs AB₃ monomer). Thus, the number of coupling reactions increases with each successive generation. Early examples of divergent dendrimer synthesis come from the work of Denkewalter,⁹ Vögtle,¹⁰ Meijer,¹¹ Mülhaupt,¹² Tomalia,¹³ and Newkome.¹⁴

Classical examples of the convergent approach to dendrimer synthesis can be found in the work of Fréchet,¹⁵ Miller,¹⁶ and Moore.^{17,18} In contrast to the

divergent strategy, this approach builds the dendrimer from the periphery toward the central core. Thus, the initial reaction sites ultimately reside on the periphery of dendrimer, while the reactions take place at the reactive core (called the *focal point*). Another key difference is that the number of coupling reactions needed to add each new generation-usually 2 or 3, depending on branch multiplicity—is constant throughout the synthesis making defective products easier to separate. For this reason, dendrimers prepared by the convergent strategy are generally considered to be more homogeneous (often monodisperse) than those prepared by divergent approach, because defects begin to accumulate at higher generation numbers when a large number of coupling or condensation reactions have to occur on a congested dendrimer surface. Throughout this review, dendrimers prepared by the divergent approach are drawn as monomolecular species, but it should be understood that they will contain a statistical array of defects. On the other hand, the convergent strategy is often limited to dendrimers of lower generation numbers. The problem is that the core becomes so congested that the reaction yields drop precipitously. The limits of both approaches have yet to be firmly established, but at this time one can generalize and say that the convergent approach produces dendrimers with less than eight generations, whereas divergent syntheses can make dendrimers with as many as 10 generations. Both the commercially available PAMAM and poly(propyleneimine) dendrimers are made by the divergent method.

The synthetic availability of dendrimers in a wide range of sizes (i.e., generations) combined with their unique structure, makes them versatile building blocks for a wide range of applications. This review focuses on the use of dendrimers in supramolecular chemistry; in particular, the use of dendrimers in (1) molecular recognition, and (2) self-assembling systems. Molecular recognition and self-assembly are two important areas in supramolecular chemistry, which Lehn has broadly defined as the chemistry beyond the molecule.¹⁹⁻²¹ For a more detailed definition of the terms in this area, interested readers are referred to excellent review articles.^{22,23} In the following discussion we use the terms molecular recognition and self-assembly rather loosely. Indeed at times the distinction between the two is rather arbitrary. In general, the molecular recognition sections will cover the selective binding of a guest molecule(s) by a dendritic host, while the latter concentrates more on the noncovalent self-assembly or self-organization of monomeric units into larger structures, including aggregates, phases, and monoand multilayers.

II. Dendrimers in Molecular Recognition

Whereas linear polymers often adopt random-coil structures, the three dimensional structure of dendrimers is better defined in possessing a central core with branches that more or less radiate out to a peripheral surface. Dendrimers of lower generation number tend to exist in relatively open forms. However, as the successive layers are added, and often at the fifth generation, dendrimers adopt a spherical three-dimensional structure which very loosely re-



Figure 1. Commercially available PAMAM dendrimers and poly(propylene imine) dendrimers.

sembles that of a globular protein. This gross structural similarity suggests that dendrimers might function in many of the same ways as their natural counterparts. Indeed, host–guest chemistry can take place either in the interior or on the periphery of the dendrimer, just as the molecular recognition exhibited by proteins may occur deep within the biopolymer or at its surface. Binding groups on the interior of the dendrimer have been called *endo-receptors*, whereas peripheral, or end groups involved in complexation chemistry are called *exo-receptors*.¹

A. Complexation in Dendrimer "Interiors"

As early as in 1982, Maciejewski²⁴ proposed the possibility of constructing a dendritic "core-shell molecule" to "topologically" entrap small molecules. Theoretical calculations on Tomalia's poly(amidoamine) (PAMAM) dendrimers (e.g., 1, Figure 1) by de Gennes and Hervet²⁵ also predicted that the generation growth of a dendrimer will reach a limit in which the space on the surface becomes too highly congested to allow further growth. Computational studies on the PAMAM dendrimers by Goddard and Tomalia²⁶ indicated that above the fourth generation, dendrimers adopt a globular structure with large hollow cavities inside. There remains considerable uncertainty about detailed structure of dendrimers, in particular whether they are fully extended or folded back and whether the density is highest at the surface or the core.^{27,28} Nonetheless these calculations suggested the possibility of binding or even entrapping small molecules in the interior of dendrimers and provided significant impetus for research in this area.

1. Hydrophobic Interior Binding

The ability of PAMAM dendrimers **3** (Figure 1) terminated with methyl ester groups to complex 2,4-

dichlorophenoxyacetic acid and acetylsalicylic acid was investigated by Goddard and Tomalia²⁶ by measuring the guest C-13 spin-lattice relaxation times (T_1) . The T_1 values of these guest molecules in chloroform-d changed in the presence of dendrimer, and these, in turn, were highly dependent on the generation number. As the generation number increased from 0.5 to 3.5 (the carboxy-terminated layer is considered a half-generation), the T_1 values decreased, but remained constant as the generation number was further increased. The transition to constant T_1 values occurred at the point where the molecular simulations suggested that the dendrimers become spherical with more compact surfaces and hollow cavities inside. Thus, the results were interpreted in terms of a more effective interior complexation by the larger dendrimers. The authors noted that the guest molecules need not be fully encapsulated, but rather might congregate at the dendrimer surface.

When the surface of an apolar dendrimer contains charged functional groups, its gross structure resembles that of a micelle.¹⁴ Newkome and co-workers²⁹ prepared "unimolecular micelle" 5 (Figure 2) with a completely hydrophobic (alkane) interior. It was expected that these types of compounds would exhibit concentration-independent micellar properties, in contrast to normal micelles which possess a characteristic critical micelle concentration (cmc) below which the micelle dissociates and ceases to function. Dynamic light scattering studies indicated that micellanoate 5 was monomeric in aqueous solution over a broad concentration range. Its micelle-like behavior was established with several hydrophobic probes (e.g., diphenylhexatriene and phenol blue) and a variety of techniques including fluorimetry, fluorescence microscopy, and UV-visible spectroscopy.



5

Figure 2. A unimolecular micelle prepared by Newkome and co-workers.

Fréchet³⁰ reported a unimolecular micelle based on his polyaryl ether dendrimers. The 32 carboxylate groups on the surface of dendrimer 6 make it highly soluble in basic aqueous solution (Figure 3). The solubilization of apolar organic molecules by this dendrimer was investigated by mixing the guest and dendritic host in water at elevated temperature and with sonication. A linear relationship between the amount of solubilized pyrene and the dendrimer concentration was observed. The solubilization efficiency of **6** was found to be comparable to that of micelles formed from sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), although the former retained its ability to solubilize guest molecules at concentrations as low as 5×10^{-7} mol dm⁻³, whereas SDS worked only above its cmc $(8.1 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mol } dm^{-3})$. On average about 0.45 molecules of pyrene were dissolved by each dendrimer. This value was increased to 1.9 pyrene molecules per dendrimer by the addition of sodium chloride, which may cause the elimination of some water from the interior of dendrimer.

A possible $\pi-\pi$ contribution to the complexation was suggested by a study using other aromatic guests. Almost twice as much of the highly electrondeficient 2,3,6,7-tetranitrofluorenone was solubilized by the dendrimer as pyrene, while the solubility of 1,4-diaminoanthraquinone was only half that of pyrene. Finally the use of dendrimers as recyclable solubilization agents was demonstrated by precipitating the pyrene-dendrimer complex with acetic acid, dissolving the precipitate in tetrahydrofuran (THF), and extracting the resultant solution with an aqueous solution of base to separate host from guest.

The use of hyperbranched polymers as unimolecular micelles by Kim and Webster actually predates the dendrimer studies.³¹ The hyperbranched polymer used was obtained by polymerization of (3,5dibromophenyl)boronic acid under the Suzuki coupling conditions, and subsequent treatment with *n*-butyllithium followed by quenching with carbon dioxide (\sim 70% conversion of bromide to acid). This poly(phenylenecarboxylic acid) was converted to its lithium salt, which was used for the complexation studies. The ability of the polymer to bind *p*-toluidine in basic aqueous solution was evaluated by ¹H NMR titration methods. The upfield chemical shift of all *p*-toluidine protons indicated penetration of the guest into the aromatic "walls" of the dendritic polymer, presumably through $\pi - \pi$ interactions. Assuming formation of a 1:1 complex and a limiting shift for the guest, an association constant of 590 M⁻¹ was calculated for the complex.

Meijer and co-workers³² reported the synthesis of a series of inverted unimolecular dendritic micelles by reacting the amino end groups of poly(propylene imine) dendrimers **2** with aliphatic acid chlorides. The resultant dendritic macromolecules have a hydrophobic shell and a hydrophilic interior. ¹H NMR and dynamic light scattering studies suggested that at higher generation numbers ($n \ge 4$), these unimo-



Figure 3. A water-soluble polyaryl ether dendrimer reported by Fréchet.

lecular micelles have a compact surface and do not aggregate. The binding of hydrophilic molecules such as Bengal Rose in the dendritic interior occurred in hexane solution, whereas the dye was released by adding toluene, but not water. In contrast to normal micelles, these inverted unimolecular micelles make it possible to solubilize polar molecules in apolar solvents through the shell separation created by the dendritic framework.

The examples thus far involve a nonspecific apolar binding of guest molecules inside the dendrimer. The location of the guest is not controlled nor is it known. The design of dendrimers with well-defined and localized cavities or binding sites can be realized by the specific incorporation of a hydrophobic core, hydrogen-bonding moiety, or a metal ion coordination site.

Diederich and co-workers³³ recently described a new class of dendritic host molecules which they call dendrophanes. Dendrophanes (e.g., 7) contain a diphenylmethane-based cyclophane of the type extensively studied by Diederich, linked to four watersoluble dendrons previously reported by Newkome³⁴ (Figure 4). These dendrophanes were designed as models of globular proteins. Their complexation chemistry in aqueous solution was evaluated by spectrofluorimetric or ¹H NMR titrations using various aromatic compounds. The upfield shifts of proton signals on both the cyclophane moiety and the aromatic guest molecules upon complexation suggested binding inside the cavity of the cyclophane, rather than a nonspecific apolar interaction with the dendritic substituents.

The decreasing values of the emission λ_{max} of fluorescent probes further suggested a reduced polar environment in the binding cavity as the generation number of the dendritic substituents increased. However, the binding constants did not change significantly with generation number. This result suggests a relatively open structure for the dendritic host even at the third generation (i.e., 7). A similar conclusion was reached in studies of a different dendrophane which contained a larger cyclophanic core capable of binding steroids.³⁵ One possible explanation is that the surface of the higher generation host may be compact but highly disordered, allowing the diffusion of guests into the dendrimer cavity, although at a somewhat reduced rate.

2. Interior Hydrogen Bonding

Hydrogen-bonding interactions are ubiquitous in the biological systems, and the past decade has seen a significant interest in synthetic hosts that complex guests by hydrogen bonding. As intermolecular interactions go, hydrogen bonding is both a directional and strong binding force, at least in apolar media. Because of these advantages, and the considerable body of data available from published hostguest studies, hydrogen-bonding sites have been incorporated into dendrimer interiors. Key questions to be answered are how the dendrimer affects the strength and kinetics of the complexation. Con-



7a R = COOH 7b R = COOMe

Figure 4. Dendrophanes reported by Diederich and co-workers.

versely, the binding ability of the external guest might be useful as a probe of the nanoenvironment within dendrimers. For example, it is well known that the strength of hydrogen-bonding interactions is highly sensitive to the polarity of solvent.

Newkome and co-workers³⁶ described a series of dendritic hosts (e.g., **8**, Figure 5) containing (diacylamino)pyridine hydrogen-bonding units. These hydrogen-bonding units contain a donor-acceptordonor (DAD) hydrogen-bonding motif that has been widely used to bind complementary guests such as imides or barbituric acids. In **8** two such units may cooperate to bind the two ADA sites on barbituric acid. The host-guest interactions were evaluated by ¹H NMR titration. For higher generation number hosts, the host-guest interaction was complicated by the potential self-association of the host molecules and the binding of guest molecules at other hydrogenbinding sites within the host.

3. Interior Metal-Ligand Coordination

Metal-ligand interactions within coordination complexes can be as strong and robust as a typical covalent bond or relatively weak and kinetically labile. More often than not coordination geometries are well-defined and there is a selectivity inherent in the metal-ligand interaction. These features have led to the wide-spread use of metal coordination in host-guest systems and for driving self-assembly both in solution and in the solid state.³⁷ In this section, recent efforts to synthesize and study dendrimers with metal complexes in their interiors will be discussed. Related examples of metallodendrimer coordination chemistry will be described in the self-assembly sections.

Dendrimers with metal complexes on their interiors have been assembled either by connecting a metal ligand to the focal point of a dendron, followed by metal complexation³⁸ or by synthetically linking dendrons to a preformed metal complex, e.g., zinc porphyrin. As an example of the former approach, Newkome and co-workers³⁹ recently synthesized dendritic "lock and key" complexes such as 9 (Figure 6) based on the well-studied ruthenium-terpyridine coordination chemistry. First and second generation dendritic terpyridines were reacted with RuCl₃ and used as the metallo "key". Similarly, first through fourth generation dendritic terpyridines were constructed and used as the "lock". The binding of the key and the lock led to the formation of five different dendritic complexes. These complexes were characterized by NMR, UV spectroscopy, and combustion analysis as well as by electrochemical techniques. Interestingly, the cyclic voltammetry exhibited irreversible redox chemistry as the generation number increased. Similar results were reported by Chow and co-workers⁴⁰ in the study of dendritic homodimers such as 10 (Figure 7). These complexes,



8

Figure 5. Newkome's dendritic host with multiple hydrogen-bonding sites.



Figure 6. Dendritic ruthenium complex reported by Newkome and co-workers.

formed from bis(terpyridine)iron(II) complexation, showed decreasing reversibility at the third generation polyether dendrimer. The Newkome and Chow observations were rationalized, respectively, by the destabilization of redox products due to steric hindrance or to an ineffective electron transfer due to the isolation of redox center from electrode surface by the dendritic shell.

Several dendrimers with metalloporphyrin cores were prepared to investigate the effect of the dendritic framework on the electrochemical or photochemical properties of the metalloporphyrin. For example, Diederich and co-workers⁴¹ synthesized zinc porphyrin dendrimers such as **11** (Figure 8) through a divergent strategy that employed Newkome's amino triester building blocks as the dendritic shell (*vide*



Figure 7. Dendritic iron(II) complex synthesized by Chow and co-workers.



11 M = Zn (II), R = CH₃ -**12** M = Fe (III) or Fe(II), R = (CH₂CH₂O)₃ CH₃ -

Figure 8. Dendritic metalloporphyrins reported by Diederich and co-workers.

supra). These novel compounds were designed to be models for electron-transfer proteins such as cytochrome *c*, in which the globular polypeptide is known to affect the metalloporphyrin redox potential. Indeed, the redox potentials of these dendritic porphyrins, determined by cyclic voltammetry (CV), were clearly affected by the dendritic substituents. As the generation number increased, the first reduction potential became more negative while the oxidation potential became less positive. This observation was rationalized by a through-space interaction between the electron-rich dendritic shell and metalloporphyrin. At higher generation numbers, the favorable interaction between the electron-rich dendrimer and the positively charged metalloporphyrin oxidation product makes the oxidation process easier, whereas the reduction product is harder to form at the higher generations.



Figure 9. Dendritic metalloporphyrins and dendritic imidazoles reported by Aida and co-workers.

Diederich, Gross, and co-workers⁴² synthesized similar dendritic iron(II) porphyrin complexes, e.g., **12**, but with triethylene glycol monomethyl ether groups on the surface which make them soluble in solvents whose polarity ranges from water to *p*-xylene. From the first generation to the second generation, cyclic voltammetry indicated a remarkable 0.42 V positive shift in the Fe^{III}/Fe^{II} reduction potential in water, while the change was relatively small (~0.08 V) in methylene chloride. The large potential shift in water is comparable to the difference observed between cytochrome *c* and a cytochrome *c* heme model compound possessing a more open structure.

An important event that controls the chemistry of heme-containing proteins is the coordination of a histidine residue to the metal center. Aida and coworkers⁴³ recently reported the attachment of a series of Fréchet dendrons both to the meta phenyl groups of a tetraphenyl zinc porphyrin and to N-1 of imidazole (see 13-15, Figure 9). The UV spectra of the dendritic porphyrins were measured in both dichloromethane and 1,3-dimethoxybenzene. The wavelengths of the Soret bands were used as a measure of the microenvironment of the zinc porphyrin, a strategy which is similar to Fréchet and co-workers44 use of a 4-aminonitrobenzene moiety as a solvatochromic probe at the dendrimer core. At the fifth generation, the λ_{max} of the Soret band (ca. $\lambda_{max} = 0.7$ nm) became solvent independent, suggesting that the zinc porphyrin core was almost completely surrounded by its dendritic shell.



Figure 10. Crown ether-based dendrimers reported by Shinkai and co-workers.

Aida further studied the ability of first, second, and fourth generation dendritic imidazoles **14** to coordinate to dendritic porphyrin **13**. The results indicated a 1:1 stoichiometry between the host and guest with binding constants decreasing significantly as the generation number of the porphyrin increased from 4 to 5. Despite the loss of binding energy, it is remarkable that the fourth generation imidazole is able to bind the fifth generation dendritic porphyrin at all given the high degree of dendrimer interpenetration that must occur.

Shinkai and co-workers recently reported the incorporation of multiple azacrown ethers within the arms of a dendrimer and the ability of these "crowned arborols" to extract alkali metal ions from water to methylene chloride.⁴⁵ Reduction of the amide-linked crown ether dendrimers such as 16 afforded tertiary amine dendrimers such as 17 (Figure 10) which exhibited dramatically increased extraction capabilities. Surprisingly, these dendrimers extracted metal ions in a generation-independent manner and they further failed to efficiently extract Cs^+ through sandwich complexation. Both results indicate that the crown ethers inside the dendrimers function noncooperatively. The use of these same dendrimers to solubilize peptides in organic solvents through peptide-NH₃⁺-crown ether interactions was also described. Only the first generation dendrimer with tertiary amine linkage was able to markedly increase the solubility of myoglobin in N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF). The solubility increase presumably occurs because this open and lipophilic dendrimer binds at the protein surface.

4. Physical Encapsulation

Meijer and co-workers^{46–49} have taken the binding discussed above one step further by capping the end groups of the dendrimer host–guest complex thereby permanently encapsulating the guest molecule. The physical encapsulation was achieved in the final step of the dendrimer synthesis by reacting the terminal amino groups of a poly(propylene imine) dendrimer– small molecule complex with various activated Bocor Fmoc-protected amino acids. In the case of the fifth generation dendrimer, NMR relaxation measurements indicated a low mobility of the surface groups, which suggests that they are sterically close packed and possibly hydrogen bonded. After exten-



Figure 11. Meijer's dendritic box with Bengal Rose molecules inside.

sive dialysis, spectroscopic evidence, including EPR, UV, and fluorescence studies, indicated the presence of guest molecules such as tetracyanoquinodimethane (TCNQ) and Bengal Rose within dendritic "box" **18** (Figure 11). The second generation dendrimer showed no significant encapsulation presumably due to its relatively open structure. In contrast to other molecular containers such as carcerands, macromolecular box **18** has enough space to simultaneously trap up to four molecules of Bengal Rose and 8-10 molecules of 4-nitrobenzoic acid. The potential applications of this method include its use as a drug delivery vessel, a fluorescence marker, as well as for examining the chemical and physical behavior of isolated molecules.

Meijer and co-workers⁵⁰ further demonstrated the shape-selective release of entrapped guests from the dendritic "box" by a two-step chemical approach. For example, a dendritic box containing the small EPR probe 2,2,3,4,5,5-hexamethyl-3-imidazolinium-1-yloxy methyl sulfate (**19**) and the comparatively larger dye Bengal Rose, was deprotected with formic acid to remove the surface Boc groups. Subsequent dialysis afforded a "perforated" dendrimer, in which all the small guests **19** were completely removed. Further removal of the surface amide groups by refluxing the "perforated" dendrimer with 2 N HCl resulted in the release of the dye molecules and about 50-70% of the original poly(propylene imine) dendrimer was recovered. Photochemical and enzymatic methods were suggested as alternative ways to selectively remove the dendrimer shell, approaches that offer certain advantages over the harsh chemical method used in this work. The enzymatic strategy, in particular, may be important in the development of selective drug delivery devices.

B. Complexation at Dendrimer "Surfaces"

1. Electrostatic Interactions

Molecular recognition events at dendrimer surfaces are distinguished by the large number of often identical end groups presented by the dendritic host. When these groups are charged, the surface may



4: Carboxylate-terminated PAMAM dendrimer

Figure 12. Binding and photoinduced electron transfer on the surface of PAMAM dendrimer.

behave as a polyelectrolyte and is likely to electrostatically attract oppositely charged molecules. Indeed, Turro and Tomalia⁵¹⁻⁵⁵ first utilized this interaction to investigate the micellar properties of PAMAM dendrimers. Medium-sized carboxylateterminated PAMAM dendrimers, represented by 4, were shown to facilitate the photoinduced electrontransfer (ET) reaction from tris(2,2'-bipyridine)ruthenium(II) (Ru(bpy)₃²⁺) to 1,1'-dimethyl-4,4'-bipyridinium ion (MV^{2+}) . This observation was rationalized by the simultaneous electrostatic binding of both Ru- $(\tilde{b}py)_3^{2+}$ and MV^{2+} on the dendrimer surface, as shown in Figure 12. This assumption was further supported by the observation that the Stern-Volmer constants significantly decreased upon addition of either a large amount of sodium chloride or a negatively charged quencher such as hexacyanoferrate(II) ion (Fe(CN) $_{6}^{4-}$). The longer emission lifetime of the $Ru(bpy)_3^{2+}$ excited state in the air-equilibrated solution also indicates the binding and protection of the excited state on the dendrimer surface.

Other examples of electrostatic interactions between polyelectrolyte dendrimers and charged species include the aggregation of methylene blue on the dendrimer surface⁵⁶ and the binding of EPR probes such as copper complexes and nitroxide cation radicals.^{57,58} Recently, Aida and co-workers⁵⁹ modified a zinc porphyrin with first and third generation polyether dendrons, 20 and 21, respectively, which carry carboxylate groups on their surface (Figure 9). Addition of MV²⁺, or even negatively charged naphthalenesulfonate changed the UV spectra of the first generation dendritic porphyrin 20, while no significant change was observed for the third generation dendrimer 21. This result illustrates the shielding of the metalloporphyrin from the dyes by the dendritic shell, at least in the high generations. Fluorescence quenching experiments suggested that MV²⁺ dye molecules assemble around the carboxylate shell of **21** through electrostatic interactions and that the photoinduced electron-transfer reaction from zinc porphyrin to MV^{2+} dye takes place through the dendritic shell.

Dubin and co-workers⁶⁰ explored the possibility of complexing a linear polycation such as poly(dimethyldiallylammonium chloride) with the carboxylateterminated PAMAM dendrimers **4**. The complexation, which usually resulted in a phase transition and was thus monitored by turbidity measurements, was dependent on the charge density of both the linear polyelectrolyte and the dendrimer surface as well as the solution ionic strength. The critical pH, defined as the pH where complex formation begins, was determined as a function of the ionic strength and dendrimer generation. For the 7.5 generation dendrimer, the critical pH increased as the ionic strength increased; however, no phase transition was observed for the 0.5 generation dendrimer regardless of the pH and ionic strength. The nature of the complexation is unknown, but the results indicate that a sufficiently large surface and charge density is required for strong complex formation between these classes of polyelectrolytes.

The electrostatic interaction of polycations and polyanions may produce a charge neutralization which can be useful in the creation of artificial genetransfer vectors. The efficient transfer of genetic materials into an eukaryotic cell is an important requirement for effective gene therapy, which targets and potentially treats hereditary and acquired genetic disorders. Due to the potential risks in using viruses as gene-transfer vectors, artificial agents have attracted significant attention as potential replacements. Some inorganic and organic cations as well as cationic polymers such as polylysine and polyethyleneimine, were shown to precipitate and compact DNA and several were used in the development of gene-delivery devices.⁶¹⁻⁶⁴ On the other hand, the amine-terminated PAMAM dendrimers 1 which possess polycationic surfaces under physiological pH conditions, appear ideally suited to this purpose. Indeed their ability to bind polyanionic DNA and function as *in vitro* gene-transfer agents was recently described independently by Szoka and Baker.

Initial studies by Szoka and Haensler,⁶⁵ using a gel retardation assay showed that commercially available PAMAM dendrimers form stable complexes with DNA. The transfection efficiency of plasmids containing reporter genes that encode firefly luciferase or β -galactosidase was studied using several cell types. The transfection efficiency of firefly luciferase in CV-1 cells was highly dependent on the generation number of the dendrimers and the charge ratio of terminal ammonium to DNA phosphate groups. The maximum efficiency occurred with the sixth generation dendrimer and a 6:1 ammonium to phosphate ratio. By comparison, this assisted gene transfer is 1000-fold more efficient than that using polylysine 115. The cytotoxicity of the sixth generation dendrimer both in the presence and absence of DNA was also reported to be lower than that of polylysine 115. The fifth generation dendrimer was conjugated through a disulfide linkage to an amphipathic membrane-destabilizing peptide, GALAcys. At a low ammonium ion to phosphate ratio, this conjugate exhibited low transfection efficiency presumably due to its lowered affinity for DNA as a result of the eight negative charges in the peptide. However, when a 1:1 mixture of this conjugate and the corresponding peptide-free dendrimer was used, the transfection was enhanced compared to the peptide-free dendrimer alone.

Further study from the same group⁶⁶ indicated that the gene transfection activity described above was actually due to degraded dendrimer products resulting from a heat treatment step. Intact, commercially available PAMAM dendrimers showed low transfection efficiency. However, when the intact dendrimers were refluxed in water or butanol to promote amide solvolysis, the transfection activity of the degraded dendrimer was enhanced significantly. Optimal activity followed heat treatment for 5–15 h depending on the initial dendrimer size, whereas further heating resulted in loss of activity. The components of the optimally degraded dendrimers were separated by size exclusion chromatography and then evaluated for their transfection activity. The results showed that high molecular weight "fractured" dendrimers were responsible for the high activity, while the low molecular weight components showed no detectable activity. These conclusions were supported by the increased transfection activity observed with a dendrimer chemically synthesized with a defective branch. Viscosity measurements as the function of pH combined with a computational study suggested that the fractured dendrimers are highly flexible compared to the intact dendrimers. This added flexibility allows them to swell and collapse, properties that were proposed to enhance their transfection efficiencies.

Recently, Baker and co-workers⁶⁷ disclosed their gene transfer studies using PAMAM dendrimers. Gel retardation studies suggested formation of a strong complex between the PAMAM dendrimer (generation number greater than 3) and DNA even in the presence of 1.5 M sodium chloride or at a comparatively high pH of 9.8. The complexes were stable under physiological conditions and could be dissociated only by strong ionic surfactants, such as SDS. Interestingly, the gene transfection efficiency is dramatically improved by the addition of (diethylamino)ethyl-(DEAE) dextran. The transfection efficiency increased exponentially with generation number up to the eighth generation where it leveled off. In most cell lines, the efficiency of a ninth generation dendrimer is 10 to 100 times higher than that of cationic lipids. The enhancing ability of DEAE-dextran is likely due to its role in disassembling large dendrimer-DNA aggregates. Indeed, the conversion to smaller complexes was indicated by electron microscopy. These smaller and compact particles probably have a high rate of cellular uptake. However, in other systems, the addition of chloroquine, a lysomotropic agent, gave much better transfection efficiency than did DEAE-dextran. In contrast to this observation, no significant enhancement was observed in Szoka's system when chloroquine was added.

In spite of the contrasting findings, the results from both groups indicate the promise that polycationic dendrimers offer as synthetic gene-transfer vectors. Further enhancements are necessary in order to develop a more powerful gene-transfer vector which ultimately might function *in vivo*. Such improvements may arise through screens for more efficient additives, or by attaching the dendrimer to a protein or other molecule which can further facilitate DNA complexation, decomplexation, transportation, or cell targeting.

Gene expression begins with the transcription of DNA into messenger RNA (mRNA) which, in turn, is translated into protein. In recent years, there have been significant efforts to design natural or synthetic oligonucleotides that inhibit either transcription or translation. The former is known as the antigene strategy, while the latter is termed the antisense DNA approach. On the basis of the approaches discussed above, Baker and co-workers⁶⁸ recently described the use of PAMAM dendrimers to deliver antisense oligonucleotides or plasmids into cells in order to inhibit gene expression. These authors showed that in a cell-free, coupled transcriptiontranslation system, an antisense oligonucleotide complexed to a dendrimer retained the inhibitory activity of the free oligonucleotide. However, *in vitro* studies using cultured cells showed that the antisense oligonucleotide-dendrimer complexes inhibited gene expression, while no significant inhibition was detected for the free antisense oligonucleotide. In an important control study, the sense nucleotide showed no inhibitory activity in the presence of the dendrimer. Optimal inhibition (about 50%) occurred with the seventh generation dendrimer (ethylenediamine as a core) with a 10:1 charge ratio of ammonium to phosphate. Similar inhibition results were obtained with antisense cDNA plasmids complexed with PAMAM dendrimers, while a truncated antisense sequence was less effective. These results further demonstrate the ability of dendrimers to act as transport agents for oligonucleotides and their potential application to the sequence specific inhibition of gene expression. Interestingly, it was also found that the dendrimer strongly stabilizes the antisense oligonucleotide inside the cells, suggesting a role beyond that as a transport agent.

2. Multiligand Dendrimers

Because a dendrimer surface may contain multiple copies of a particular functional group, it is an ideal platform for amplification of substrate binding. Macromolecules capable of engaging in multivalent interactions may display an increased affinity with a complementary receptor either through cooperativity or a purely statistical enhancement. The presence of multiple ligands in such a close proximity on the dendritic surface may also dramatically increase the local concentration of the particular ligand in some environments wherein diffusion is a problem. This approach is particularly appealing in the area of medicinal chemistry where numerous therapeutic target receptors are multivalent.

Until recently, a variety of linear polymers were employed for this purpose. However, polymeric macromolecules are always heterogeneous and because their components are not well-defined, their reproducibility and reliability is limited. Furthermore, due to the flexibility of polymer chains, the three-dimensional structures are variable and difficult to predict. In contrast, dendrimers are often monodisperse and different sized structures can be easily obtained. In addition, the three-dimensional structures of dendrimers are better defined. For example, the surface and interior of dendrimers are considered to be segregated so that all of the peripheral ligands should be accessible for binding. With linear polymers, a substantial fraction of appended ligands may be wrapped up by the polymer depending on its conformation. Because of these potential advantages, applications of dendrimers in pharmaceutical and medicinal chemistry have been extensively explored.

2.1. Peptide Dendrimers. As early as in 1988, Tam and co-workers^{69,70} reported the use of multiple



I = H-Phe-Glu-Pro-Ser-Glu-Ala-Glu-Ile-Ser-His-Thr-Gln-Lys-Ala-

21 Figure 13. Tam's multiple antigen peptide system.



Figure 14. Peptide dendrimers with two epitopes.

antigen peptides (MAP) for the production of antipeptide antibodies and synthetic vaccines. These peptide dendrimers were prepared by attaching multiple copies of the peptide sequences of interest to a relatively small dendritic lysine core (Figure 13). More than 80% of the total weight of these peptide dendrimers comes from the desired peptide sequence. In the traditional method in which the target peptide is conjugated to a comparatively large carrier protein the overall amount of active peptide is quite low. Thus, it is not surprising that peptide dendrimers such as **21** are found to be more immunogenic. The antibodies induced by these peptide dendrimers in rabbits and mice were not only consistently reactive, but also specific to the corresponding peptide dendrimers and monovalent peptides as well as the cognate native proteins. Neither cross-reactivity nor the reactivity toward the dendritic lysine core was observed. Thus, the peptide dendrimer provides an excellent scaffold for high immunogenicity which eliminates any undesired immunological response as may be seen when a carrier protein is used.

Tam and co-workers⁷¹ extended the MAP concept to the synthesis of peptide dendrimers with multiple epitopes. Two independent epitopes, derived from the corresponding peptide residues in the S and pre-S(2) regions of hepatitis B virus (HBV) were incorporated either by the use of an orthogonally protected dendritic lysine core or by the heterocoupling of two homologous peptide dendrimers through a disulfide bridge (**22** and **23** in Figure 14). These diepitope peptide dendrimers induced strong immunological responses to both cognate native proteins, while the antisera from the monoepitope peptide dendrimer from the S region showed weak reactivity with the corresponding monomeric and MAP peptides as well as the S protein. The pre-S(2) peptide in these



Figure 15. A trivalent glycoside reported by Lee and coworkers.

diepitope peptide dendrimers may increase the immunogenicity of the S epitope by functioning as a T-helper epitope.

Further amplification of the MAP approach has been proposed by Tam and co-workers⁷² through the design of an amphiphilic peptide dendrimer, which can potentially form liposomal or micellar assemblies. For example, a tetravalent peptide antigen containing the glycoprotein gp120 of HIV-1 was attached to a lipophilic tripalmitoyl-s-glycerylcysteine group. This peptide dendrimer was shown to be promising as a synthetic AIDS vaccine. Recent efforts from Tam's group⁷³⁻⁷⁵ and others⁷⁶ have made it possible to efficiently synthesize large peptide dendrimers through a nonnative chemical ligation technique that involves the formation of thiazolidine, oxime, and hydrazone linkages. A variety of linear as well as cyclic peptide dendrimers⁷⁷ were prepared in this manner, in which the nonnative chemical ligation takes place on the unprotected peptide building blocks. The bioactivity of these novel peptide dendrimers and, in particular, the effect that these nonnative bonds might have on the bioactivity, have not been reported so far. Nonetheless, the new synthetic strategy does open the possibility to screen a broader range of compounds for desired properties and function.

2.2. Glycodendrimers. Carbohydrate-protein interactions are ubiquitous in biology and mediate numerous important processes such as cell recognition, adhesion, and infection.⁷⁸ However, the interaction between monosaccharides and carbohydrate-binding proteins (also called lectins) are relatively weak. Inspired by the strong binding affinity displayed by the naturally occurring neoglycoproteins and the presence of multiple binding sites in aggregated lectins, Lee and co-workers⁷⁹ designed and synthesized several divalent and trivalent branched glycosides. Although the enhancement of binding affinity is highly dependent on the structures of the multivalent ligands and the lectin, the increase in affinity (500-fold) toward rabbit hepatic lectin of (GalNAc)₃ 24 (Figure 15) over GalNAc is encouraging. This result was rationalized by a "cluster effect", in which the multivalent glycosides interact with more than one lectin binding site simultaneously and cooperatively.

An extension of this concept led to the design and synthesis of glycopolymers and more recently Roy and co-workers^{80,81} reported the first example of "glycodendrimers". The sialic acid dendrimers such as **25** (Figure 16) were prepared by the reaction of a protected 2-thiosialic acid derivative with an L-lysine dendritic core capped with chloroacetyl groups, followed by deacetylation to free the sugar functionality.



Figure 16. A glycodendrimer based on dendritic lysine core synthesized by Roy and co-workers.

Glycodendrimers up to the fourth generation with 16 sialic acids were synthesized in this manner. The biological properties of the sialic acid dendrimers were characterized using the plant lectin wheat germ agglutination (WGA) in a direct enzyme-linked lectin assay (ELLA). The binding affinity of the third and fourth generation dendritic sialic acids was comparable to that of a sialic acid polymer with a molecular weight around 100 kD. Further studies with the influenza A virus showed a fourth generation sialic acid dendrimer to inhibit hemagglutination of human erythrocytes 158 times more effectively than the analogous monosialic acid or around 10-fold per sugar molecule. The collective evidence was taken in support of a multivalent interaction as the origin of the enhanced activity.

In addition to the sialic acid dendrimer described above, Roy and co-workers^{82,83} incorporated other sugars including GalNAc, α -D-mannopyranoside, and a disaccharide onto the dendrimer surface. Other branching units such as phosphotriester, isophthalic acid, and gallic acid have been utilized. An interesting recent observation⁸⁴ from the same group shows that the sugar valency required for maximum binding capacity is not necessarily correlated to the number of binding sites in lectins. For example, the affinity of a series of mannopyranoside-containing dendrimers with Concanavalin A (Con A), which has four sugar binding sites, reached a saturation level at second generation with only four sugar residues. However, for pea lectin which has only two binding sites, a third generation dendrimer with eight sugar residues was required in order to reach the binding plateau.

The amine-terminated PAMAM dendrimers 1 were employed independently by Okada⁸⁵ and Toyokuni⁸⁶ as a platform for the construction of glycodendrimers. In work by Okada, D-glutose and D-galactose were attached to the dendrimer surface by amidation with glycosylactones. The binding ability of these glycodendrimers with Con A was investigated by quantitative precipitation experiments as well as by a competitive binding method. As expected, Con A, which specifically recognizes D-glutosyl and D-mannosyl residues, bound only the glutosyldendrimer. About a 16-fold weight equivalent of D-glucose was required to disrupt this binding interaction. In a different approach, Toyokuni and co-workers investigated the immunogenicity of a fifth generation glycodendrimer with di-Tn antigens on the surface. Surprisingly, the antibody production by this antigen was almost undetectable.

With an increasing understanding of the function of carbohydrates in biological processes, the design and synthesis of dendritic carbohydrates will continue to be an attractive area of research.^{87–89} The inhibitory advantages of the multivalent glycosides relative to monosaccharides was demonstrated by Roy as well as by Lee. However, higher generation number dendritic saccharides will likely exhibit weaker protein–carbohydrate interactions due to the steric crowding on the surface. Furthermore, the binding sites in some lectins are arranged on a more or less flat or spherical surface depending on the



Figure 17. A dendritic boronic acid used as a sugar receptor reported by Shinkai and co-workers.

aggregation state and structure of the particular lectin. A spherical glycodendrimer might fail to enjoy a polyvalent interaction because of a poor shape complementarity. In this case, a less spherical glycodendrimer might be employed.

3. Other Examples

The design of sugar-binding receptors has also attracted significant attention recently. For example, there remains interest in developing a convenient method for the detection of sugar levels in diabetes patients. With this objective in mind, Shinkai and co-workers⁹⁰ introduced a boronic acid-based fluorescence sensor for the sugar detection. More recently, the same group reported the attachment of "sensor units" containing an anthracene chromophore, a tertiary amine, and boronic acid group to the surface of a second generation PAMAM dendrimer.⁹¹ For monosaccharides such as D-galactose and D-fructose which can form a 1:2 complex with boronic acid moiety, their complex with octaboronic acid 26 (Figure 17) was shown to be significantly more stable than that with a flexible diboronic acid or a monoboronic acid. The enhanced binding was attributed to a high local concentration effect where following its interaction with one boronic acid the sugar may intramolecularly bind to any of seven different boronic acids.

Wiener and co-workers⁹² reported the use of dendritic polygadolinium chelates **27** (Figure 18) as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) contrast agents. These novel dendrimers were prepared by the reaction of amine-terminated G2 and G6 PAMAM dendrimers with the gadolinium-chelated 2-(4-isothiocyanatobenzyl)-6-methyl-diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid. In comparison with other polymeric or monovalent chelators, the greatly enhanced proton relaxation exhibited by these dendrimer-based polygadolinium chelators indicated their effectiveness for MRI applications. Indeed, contrast enhancement was clearly observed in several in vivo studies.



Figure 18. Dendritic metal chelators as MRI contrast agents reported by Wiener and co-workers.

Moreover, the sixth generation polygadolinium dendrimer displayed a prolonged enhancement with a half-life of 200 min. In comparison, the half-life of the monovalent gadolinium agent is only 24 min. This prolonged enhancement time is extremely useful for 3D time-of-flight MR angiography.

Besides the examples discussed above, dendrimer surfaces have been modified with other functional groups such as boron clusters for use in imaging or radiotherapy,^{93–95} imides,^{96,97} and tetrathiafulvalenes^{98,99} as novel redox active materials, chiral auxiliary ligands¹⁰⁰ for the preparation of novel catalysts, and organometallic complexes as possible electro- or photoactive materials. The synthesis of dendritic polyorganometallic complexes will be discussed in more detail in next section.

Dendrimer surfaces have also been used as a platform to facilitate the conjugation of antibodies and small molecules. For example, Roberts and coworkers¹⁰¹ used PAMAM dendrimers to link a porphyrin label to an antibody. The porphyrin was attached first to the dendrimer surface, this intermediate was then conjugated to the antibody followed by the incorporation of copper-67 into the porphyrin. With the dendrimer linker, both the conjugation and the incorporation of copper-67 became more efficient, presumably due to the presence of many reacting sites on the dendrimer surface and the physical separation between the antibody and porphyrin. This antibody-dendrimer-radiolabel conjugate retained the immunoactivity of the unmodified antibody. Wu and co-workers¹⁰² employed a similar procedure in the preparation of a dendritic antibodymetal chelate conjugate. They also found that the dendrimer facilitated the conjugation.

III. Dendrimers as Building Blocks for Self-Assembly Processes

A. Self-Assembly Mediated by Nondirectional Forces

1. Dendritic Amphiphiles

The hydrophobic effect is widely seen as a vital driving force in self-organization processes in Nature.



Figure 19. Bolaamphiphiles.

A paradigmatic example is the formation of lipid superstructures. Because they are amphiphilic, in water the hydrophobic and hydrophilic moieties segregate as the lipids self-assemble into micelles or bilayers. In both of these supramolecular aggregates, the hydrophilic head groups are exposed at the surface, while the hydrophobic chain ends entangle on the interior. The structure and stability of the aggregate is dependent on both internal conditions such as the critical packing parameter, i.e., the relative size of the hydrophilic to hydrophobic portions, and external conditions such as concentration and temperature.

Since their initial reports on the divergent synthesis of dendrimers, Newkome and co-workers employed dendrimers as building blocks for the construction of novel amphiphiles, including bolaamphiphiles.¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁸ Bolamphiphiles such as **28** contain two water-soluble dendritic polyols linked through a hydrophobic spacer (Figure 19).¹⁰⁶ A variety of spacers such as simple aliphatic chains or biphenyl or spirane units were used. The ability of these compounds to induce gel formation was shown to be affected both by the length and rigidity of the spacer. In the case of **28** (n = 1) gelation readily occurred when a 2-10% w/w aqueous solution was heated to 80 °C and then cooled to 25 °C. The resultant gel was then characterized by a combination of methods including viscometry, optical microscopy, transmission electron microscopy (TEM), and light scattering. When the gel began to form, the viscosity increased rapidly. TEM analysis of this gel indicated bundles of rod-shaped aggregates with uniform widths (34-36 Å), but variable lengths (ca. >2000 Å).

The model proposed to explain this observation involves an orthogonal stacking of the dumbbellshaped arborols to form a long and thin aggregate. Thus, the aliphatic linkers associate hydrophobically



Figure 20. A micelle-forming dendrimer reported by Newkome and co-workers.

in the interior of the rod-shaped aggregate, while the hydroxy chain ends project outward and interact with each other or with water through hydrogen-bonding interactions. It is also possible that hydrogen-bonding interactions between amide groups along the rod axis further stabilize the aggregate. Additional studies showed that the gel was stable across a wide pH range with the phase-transition temperature from gel to solution increasing as the solution became more concentrated. Fluorescence microscopy with a lipophilic probe, chlortetracycline, confirmed the existence of a hydrophobic region inside the gel.

More recently, Newkome and co-workers¹⁰⁷ reported the synthesis of bolaamphiphile **29** with a central triple bond. It was hoped that the alkyne moieties aligned along the rod axis of the gel might be polymerized to form a large covalent structure. The gel formation of bolaamphiphile **29** was demonstrated. Interestingly, in contrast to the saturated analogs, a helical superstructure was detected by TEM. This novel morphology was attributed to the rigidity of the central alkyne group which prefers nonorthogonal stacking.

Jørgensen and co-workers¹⁰⁹ recently synthesized bolaamphiphile **30** with a tetrathiafulvalene (TTF) spacer, and explored its gel-forming ability. Gelation occurred when a hot solution of **30** in 25% (v/v) ethanol–water or DMF–water was cooled. This gel was shown to have a large bandlike structure as analyzed by phase contrast optical microscopy and atomic force microscopy (AFM). After oxidation with iodine, the gel displayed a characteristic absorption corresponding to TTF dimers or oligomers. This observation supported the conclusion that the TTF units are stacked in the gel, similar to the finding of Newkome. This type of aggregate might potentially act as a "molecular wire".

Newkome and co-workers¹⁰⁵ previously synthesized a tridendron **31** (Figure 20) based on a 1,3,5-trisubstituted benzene scaffold and investigated its micellar properties in aqueous solution by use of TEM and light-scattering techniques. Large aggregates were clearly visible in the electron micrographs. The critical micelle concentration (cmc = 2.02 mM) of **31** was calculated by plotting the scattered light intensity against the sample concentration. Above the cmc, the Stokes radius measured by dynamic light scattering was estimated to be about 95 nm, which remained nearly unchanged as the concentration was increased.



Figure 21. AB and ABA block copolymers reported by Fréchet and co-workers.

Fréchet and co-workers^{110–113} recently reported the synthesis of a novel class of AB and ABA block copolymers (e.g., 32 and 33, Figure 21) through the Williamson ether synthesis using a linear, hydrophilic B block such as a polyethylene glycol (PEG) or a polyethylene oxide (PEO) and a spherical, hydrophobic A block-polyether dendritic bromide. Due to the difference in shape and solubility of these two blocks, the copolymers were expected to exhibit variable solution- and solid-state properties depending on the solvents used. Copolymers were prepared with varying PEG or PEO block lengths and different dendrimer generation numbers, *m*, and these were studied by ¹H NMR, size-exclusion chromatography (SEC), coupled with a viscometric detector (VISC), and optical microscopy. In the case of ¹H NMR, the

collapse and tight packing of either block was proposed to reduce its mobility, which could be qualitatively assessed by the signal broadness and weakened signal intensity. For the ABA copolymer in THF- d_8 , a good solvent for the dendrimer block but a poor solvent for the PEG segment, the ratio of the PEG to dendrimer signal was lower than that in CDCl₃, which, in turn, was approximately equal to the theoretical value. Therefore, it was proposed that in CDCl₃, a good solvent for both blocks, the copolymer exists in an extended conformation, while in THFd₈, the PEG block was tightly packed. In contrast, in methanol- d_4 , which is a good solvent for PEG block but a poor solvent for dendrimer, the NMR signals from the dendrimer moiety were very broad and almost undetectable in the G4 copolymer. This



Figure 22. A star block copolymer with a solvent-dependent conformation.

observation suggests that the dendrimer block is well shielded because its surface is wrapped by an extended PEG chain.

More detailed information on the aggregation of these copolymers in solution was obtained from the SEC/VISC studies. When THF was used as an eluent, both AB and ABA copolymers gave an intrinsic viscosity ($[\eta]$) and radius of gyration (R_{e}) of similar magnitude to the corresponding PEO or PEG polymers alone, indicating that these copolymers are monomeric in THF. However, in aqueous methanol, some of the copolymers were shown to aggregate, forming large micellar structures. The solubility and aggregation was strongly affected by the weight ratio of the linear block to the dendrimer block as well as by the size of dendrimer. In general, copolymers containing low generation dendrons, especially G1, tended to form unimolecular micelles, whereas G2 and G3 copolymers formed multimolecular micelles, presumably driven by the hydrophobic effect and $\pi - \pi$ interactions between dendritic blocks. For example, the R_g of G2-PEG11000-G2 copolymer (the MW of PEG is 11 000 amu) was highly concentration dependent ranging from 2.3 nm at 1×10^{-3} g/mL to 8.4 nm at 6×10^{-3} g/mL. Interestingly, the coexistence of two well-separated peaks in the SEC indicated a slow exchange process between these two species of different sizes.

Using a similar approach, Fréchet and co-workers¹¹⁴ recently synthesized a novel class of amphiphilic star copolymers **34** (Figure 22). To a four-armed PEG "star" scaffold derived from a pentaerythritol core were attached four polyether dendrons. Preliminary results from SEC/VISC and ¹H NMR studies indicated the formation of unimolecular micelles in chloroform, tetrahydrofuran, or methanol, but with strikingly different structures. Thus, the star copolymers can self-organize into different micellar structures as a function of the environment. A potential application of these "stimuli-responsive wrappers" involves their use as solvent-specific encapsulation agents.

Chapman and co-workers¹¹⁵ reported the synthesis of amphiphilic copolymers such as **35** derived from



35

Figure 23. A PEO and dendritic polylysine block copolymer reported by Chapman and co-workers.

linear PEO and Boc-terminated poly- α , ϵ -L-lysine dendrimers (Figure 23). The use of PEO as a platform for the dendrimer synthesis greatly facilitated separations because products up to the fourth generation could be precipitated from the reaction mixture in ether. Surface tension measurements as a function of concentration were employed to evaluate the micelle formation of these "hydraamphiphiles". The cmc was estimated to be about 8×10^{-5} M, and the surface of the aggregates was suggested to be highly compact. Solubilization of the dye Orange-OT by the G4 hydraamphiphile in water was investigated as a function of concentration. The existence of a transition concentration for dye solubility further supported the micellar behavior of the copolymer, although this concentration was slightly different than the cmc.

As a complement to the reports by Fréchet and Chapman, Meijer and co-workers¹¹⁶ recently described the synthesis of novel amphiphilic copolymers such as **36** in which the dendritic block, derived from poly(propylene imine), is both polar and hydrophilic, while the hydrophobic polymer polystyrene was used as a linear block. The micellization of these amphiphiles was investigated by a combination of conductivity measurements, dynamic light scattering (DLS), and TEM. Analogous to traditional surfac-



37 R = COOH

Figure 24. Meijer's amphiphilic block copolymers.

tants, which are much smaller in size, the micellar structures derived from these dendritic amphiphiles in aqueous solution were highly dependent on the dendrimer generation number, i.e., the size of head group. This observation matches well with the theoretical prediction of Israelachvili and co-workers.¹¹⁷ For example, PS3000–G2, in which the hydrophilic dendritic head group is relatively small compared to the hydrophobic polystyrene block, forms an inverted micellar structure in mixtures of toluene and water as demonstrated both by DLS and its excellent ability to stabilize toluene as the continuous phase.

Vesicles were observed for PS3000-G3 by TEM, indicating that the size of the dendrimer block is comparable to that of the polystyrene section. For the G4 copolymer, both DLS and TEM clearly showed the presence of a long rod structure, suggesting the formation of a cylindrical micelle. With a further increase in dendrimer generation number, the overall shape of the monomer unit approaches that of a cone. Therefore, it was expected that PS3000-G5 36 (Figure 24) would form spherical micelles, which was confirmed by TEM. This rational design ingeniously provides a structural bridge between traditional surfactants and amphiphilic block copolymers. Thus, these dendritic amphiphiles have a shape similar to that of traditional surfactants, but the size of amphiphilic block copolymers.

Meijer and co-workers¹¹⁸ further modified the above amphiphilic copolymers with dendritic blocks terminated with carboxylic acids such as **37**. Their amphiphilic behavior was demonstrated through NMR studies in different solvents such as CDCl₃, D₂O, and DMSO- d_6 , by monitoring the signal broadness and the integral ratio in a manner similar to that of Fréchet (*vide supra*). Conductivity measurements were used to determine the point of phase inversion from water to toluene, which as a function of pH and dendrimer size indicated the development of polar and amphiphilic properties in the copolymers. TEM studies indicated large aggregates for all block copolymers except G3 copolymer which formed wormlike micelles. Presumably, large networks are formed by further electrostatic association of smaller aggregates.

2. Self-Organization in Liquid Crystalline Phases

The self-organization of hyperbranched polymers in liquid crystalline phases has been explored by several research groups.¹¹⁹ Whereas discrete aggregates are not necessarily formed, the phase-dependent organization is dependent on intermolecular interactions. Percec and co-workers^{120–122} synthesized a class of flexible rodlike AB₂ monomers 38-40 (Figure 25) which can exist in either anti or gauche conformations. A series of hyperbranched polymers were prepared through the polyetherification of these branched monomers under heterogeneous conditions, followed by in situ alkylation of the hyperbranched products with aliphatic or benzyl bromides to give the corresponding end groups. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) studies showed that the glass and isotropization temperatures of these hyperbranched polymers were strongly affected by the end groups. Repeat unit **40**, with a more rigid aromatic spacer, was shown to be most effective in increasing the temperature range of nematic mesophase.

In spite of this encouraging result, there are drawbacks of the hyperbranched polymer approach, mainly due to the high polydispersities and, in this specific case, impurities resulting from intramolecular alkylation or elimination. Thus, Percec and co-workers^{123,124} synthesized pure dendritic materials on the basis of the repeat unit 40 using an iterative convergent strategy similar to that of Fréchet. Monoand tridendrons up to the fourth generation were prepared with 10-undecenyl groups on the periphery and their properties were investigated by using DSC, polarizing optical microscopy (POM), and X-ray diffraction (XRD). In contrast to the hyperbranched polymers, sharp phase transition peaks and a low degree of supercooling were observed for all dendrimers in the DSC. Except for G1OH and G1Br, which were shown to be monotropic, all other dendrimers displayed an enantiotropic nematic mesophase, and even a smectic mesophase with increasing phase transition temperatures as the generation number increased. Interestingly, (G4)3, the highest molecular weight mesogen (30863 amu) organized into a nematic texture with a rate comparable to that found with low generation dendrimers, indicating a relatively low viscosity. This result is strikingly different to that observed with linear polymers where texture formation is very slow for high MW materials. The formation of nematic instead of cubic or discotic phases for all dendrimers suggests that these particular dendrimers, even at high generation numbers,



Figure 25. AB₂ monomers for the synthesis of hyperbranched liquid crystalline polymers.



Figure 26. A monodisperse liquid crystalline dendrimer and its proposed structure in nematic phase.

Zeng and Zimmerman



Figure 27. AB_2 monomer **42** used for hyperbranched polymerization and chiral end group **43**.



Figure 28. The synthesis of a first-generation dendritic rotaxanes.

do not exhibit a spherical or disc shape. As illustrated in Figure 26 for the fourth generation dendron **41**, it was suggested that all the repeat units adopt an *anti* instead of *gauche* conformation so that the overall shape of the dendrimers is rod-like with a compact structure that minimizes free volume.

Recently, Shibaev^{125,126} and Frey¹²⁷ independently described carbosilane-based liquid crystalline dendrimers by introducing mesogenic units as end groups. In the case of Shibaev, cyanobiphenyl, methoxyphenyl benzoate, and cholesteryl groups were attached to a first generation carbosilane dendrimer, while in the case of Frey, cyanobiphenyl groups were connected to a second generation carbosilane dendrimer. These materials were shown to display smectic mesophases. Ringsdorf and co-workers¹²⁸ recently reported the synthesis of a hyperbranched polymer by polycondensation of AB₂ monomer 42 followed by capping with chiral chain end 43 (Figure 27). The polymer was shown to be chiral by polarimetry and it displayed liquid crystalline behavior. A uniform Grandjean texture was observed by POM indicating the formation of a cholesteric mesophase. Analysis of the XRD pattern led to a similar conclusion.

3. Self-Assembly by π -Stacking Interactions

Stoddart³⁷ and others have used the strong interaction between a π -donor and a π -acceptor in the design of a variety of aesthetically appealing selfassembling systems, including rotaxanes and catenanes. Recently, Stoddart and co-workers129 reported preliminary results on the construction of dendritic rotaxanes by use of the so-called "slipping" method. Thus, a tris(bipyridinium) compound 44 terminated with three large blocking groups was treated with bis-p-phenylene-34-crown-10 (BPP34C10) at a temperature high enough to allow the crowns to slip over the blocking groups. This approach afforded mono-, di-, and trisrotaxanes **45a**–**c** with the product distribution depending on the equivalents of crown ether used (Figure 28). The formation of rotaxanes was supported by electrospray mass spectrometry and ¹H NMR spectroscopy wherein upfield shifts of both bipyridinium and hydroquinone protons indicated strong $\pi - \pi$ interactions.

More recently, Stoddart and co-workers prepared a series of rotaxanes with dendritic stoppers using a "threading approach".¹³⁰ The synthesis involves the alkylation of bipyridinium-based molecules with Fréchet's third generation dendritic bromide in the presence of BPP34C10. The formation of rotaxanes was confirmed by the upfield shift of both bipyridinium and hydroquinone protons. The presence of dendritic frameworks made these rotaxanes soluble in a wide range of organic solvents. The "shuttling" process of BPP34C10 molecule from one bipyridinium to the other in [2]rotaxane 46 (Figure 29) was investigated by variable-temperature ¹H NMR spectroscopy in several solvents. The energetic barrier to this molecular motion increased in a less polar solvent such as CDCl₃. It was suggested that in less polar solvents, the cationic rotaxane backbone was more surrounded by the dendritic substituent, which led to the restricted molecular motion.

B. Hydrogen Bond-Mediated Self-Assembly

Hydrogen-bonding interactions are ubiquitous in biological self-assembly processes and are also widely



Figure 29. A rotaxane with dendritic stoppers



Figure 30. Self-assembling dendrimers mediated by hydrogen-bonding interactions.

employed in studies of abiotic self-assembly. The latter were extensively reviewed recently.¹³¹ In this section, we discuss our recent efforts in the design of self assembling systems based on dendritic macromolecules using hydrogen-bonding interactions.¹³² As noted above, dendrimers are well-defined macromolecules with sizes already on the nanometer scale. This makes them ideal building blocks for the construction of even larger structures. Because selfassembly processes are usually a balance between enthalpic gain and entropic loss, stable aggregates require strong hydrogen-bonding interactions and preorganized structures.

The formation of *discrete* aggregates requires a strategy for limiting growth. The generation of closed structures by cyclic aggregation is an obvious choice. Isophthalic acids can form cyclic hexamers by carboxylic acid dimer formation, or linear, zigzag polymeric aggregates. Because they did not self-assemble specifically into a hexameric aggregate in solution, an alternative approach that doubles the number of hydrogen bonds was taken. Thus, tetraacids 47, in which two isophthalic acid units were held in a synorientation by a rigid spacer were designed and synthesized (Figure 30).¹³² By normal pairing of carboxylic acids into hydrogen bonded dimers, these molecules can self-assemble into double-layer, cyclic hexamer 48 or a series of linear aggregates 49. Fréchet-type polyether dendrons, up to the fourth generation, were attached to the spacer unit of tetraacids 47. The aggregation of 47 was suggested by ¹H NMR spectroscopy in which the proton signals corresponding to the spacer unit of higher generation tetraacids were very broad in $CDCl_3$. The signals become sharper and well resolved as more polar solvents such as $DMSO-d_6$ or $THF-d_8$ was added to the $CDCl_3$ solution. A logical explanation for these observations is that the dendritic tetraacids exist as monomers in these polar solvents.

The self-assembly behavior of the tetraacids was characterized by SEC, laser light scattering (LLS), and vapor pressure osmometry (VPO). SEC is particularly useful in this system because of the large differences in hydrodynamic radii between monomers of different generation number and between the monomers and their putative aggregates. In addition, the precursors to the tetraacids, tetraesters 50 could be used as a standard for comparison because they cannot aggregate by hydrogen bonding yet have nearly identical sizes and molecular weights. When methylene chloride was used as the eluent, a welldefined and symmetrical peak was observed for all dendritic tetraacids except the first generation tetraacid 47a. Importantly, the molecular weight for each tetraacid was close to that expected for a hexameric aggregate when polystyrene (PS) was used as the molecular weight standard. When THF was used as an eluent, all the tetraacids had retention times very similar to their corresponding tetraester, indicating a monomeric state in THF as was suggested by the ¹H NMR results.

Although SEC calibration with PS standards is commonly used for the MW determination of new polymers, the accuracy of this method depends on whether the macromolecule under investigation and its identical molecular weight PS standard have



51

Figure 31. A covalent model of self-assembling dendrimers.

similar sizes and shapes. Therefore, it would be more conclusive to have a unimolecular analog of the hexameric aggregate for comparison. Dendrimer **51** (Figure 31), which was shown by computer modeling to have a similar size and shape as the corresponding hexamer of **47c**, was synthesized and used for this purpose. SEC showed that **47c** and **51** had nearly identical retention times. The slightly broader peak shape of **47c** compared to **51** supports the idea that **47c** self-assembles into a well-defined, discrete hexameric aggregate.

Further studies suggested that the self-assembly behavior of these tetraacids was dependent on the size of the peripheral group. The stability of 47a-faggregates was examined by SEC as a function of the injected sample concentration. It was observed that the tetraacids with small peripheral groups such as 47a and 47e formed unstable aggregates with concentration-dependent molecular weights, whereas **47b**–**d** formed stable aggregates across a wide concentration range. It was proposed that small peripheral group can be accommodated into the linear aggregates, whereas tetraacids with large peripheral groups are sterically compelled to form cyclic structures. This steering effect was supported by computer modeling. A large dendritic substituent alone, however, is not enough to guarantee selective formation of a hexamer because the flexibility of the tri-(ethylene glycol) linker in tetraacid **47f** allowed it to form linear aggregates in contrast to the behavior of **47c**.

C. Metal Complexation-Mediated Self-Assembly

Organometallic dendrimers have received significant attention in recent years because they may contain multiple coordination sites or multi-electron transfer redox centers and thus have the potential for a range of applications including as novel catalysts, molecular electronic and photochemical devices for information storage and switching, and as energy transfer and conversion devices. A variety of organometallic dendrimers have been synthesized and can be classified into three categories: (1) dendrimers with coordination centers on the periphery, (2) dendrimers with coordination centers throughout all layers, and (3) dendrimers with coordination centers at the core. The last category has been covered in the first part of this paper and includes dendritic porphyrins of Diederich and Aida,41-43 Newkome and Chow's terpyridine complexes,^{39,40} and examples from other groups.^{133–135} Thus, only the first two categories will be discussed in this section.



Figure 32. A metallodendrimer reported by Newkome, Constable, and co-workers.

1. Dendrimers with Coordination Centers on the Periphery

Dendrimers with coordination centers on the periphery have been assembled mostly by the divergent strategy.^{136,137} The dendritic cores are first prepared by traditional dendrimer synthesis in which ligands or functional groups capable of coordinating metal ions or reacting with metal complexes are introduced in the final step of the synthesis. For example, Newkome, Constable, and co-workers¹³⁸ synthesized a dendrimer with terpyridine ligands on the surface, which was complexed with terpyridinyl ruthenium chloride to form dodecaruthenium macromolecule **52** (Figure 32).

The excellent coordinating ability of phosphines has also been utilized to prepare novel organometallic dendrimers.^{139–141} For example, Dubois and coworkers¹³⁶ prepared a phosphine-containing dendrimer by iterative free-radical addition of a phosphine to diethyl vinylphosphate followed by reduction. The phosphine dendrimers were allowed to react with Pd(II) to form multivalent palladium complexes. The resultant complexes were shown to catalyze the electrochemical reduction of CO₂ to CO. On the other



Figure 33. A nonairon complex synthesized by Astruc and co-workers.

hand, Majoral, Chaudret, and co-workers¹⁴² have modified their P^V dendrimers with phosphine groups (P^{III}), which complexed Au(I) ions on the periphery. The gold complexes were analyzed by high-resolution



Figure 34. An octairon complex based on carbosilane dendrimer.

transmission electron microscopy. In addition to observing large aggregates, individual spherical particles were observed with a size that correlated well with the dendrimer generation number.

Alternatively, reactions of dendrimer functional groups on the periphery with metal complex through

displacement or oxidative addition reaction were employed. Astruc and co-workers¹⁴³ reported a synthesis of a nonairon complex 53 (Figure 33) by the aromatic nucleophilic substitution of a nonaalcohol with $[Fe(Cp)(\eta^6-p-MeC_6H_4F]PF_6$. Similarly, silicon dendrimers with reactive Si-Cl end groups can be displaced with a variety of nucleophiles. Cuadrado, Morán, and co-workers¹⁴⁴ reported the reaction of first and second generation Si-Cl dendrimers with [Fe(Cp)(CpLi)] or [Fe(Cp)(CpCH₂CH₂NH₂)] affording tetra- and octairon complexes such as 54 (Figure 34), respectively. Seyferth and co-workers¹⁴⁵ modified similar silicon-based dendrimers with ethynyl groups on the periphery by chloride displacement with ethynyl magnesium bromide. The resultant dendritic polyacetylene was reacted with Co₂(CO)₈ to give tetrakis- or dodecakis(dicobalt hexacarbonyl) complexes. Likewise, van Koten and co-workers¹⁴⁶ replaced chloride groups with substituted bromophenyl alcohols and further transformed these groups into dendritic nickel complexes such as 55 (Figure 35) through an oxidative addition reaction. These tetraand dodecanickel complexes were employed as homogeneous catalysts for the Kharasch addition reaction of CCl₄ to methyl acrylate. It was shown that the dendritic catalysts exhibited slightly lower activity but excellent regiospecificity compared to the corresponding mononickel catalyst. The advantage of these dendritic catalysts is their large size which means easy removal or recovery from reaction mixture (i.e., by dialysis or filtration).



Figure 35. A dendritic nickel complex used as a catalyst.

55



Figure 36. Dendritic ruthenium complex reported by Balzani and co-workers.



60a R=Cl 60b R=MeCN

Figure 37. Iterative divergent synthesis or uncontrolled assembly of dendritic palladium complexes.

To date, only a single report has described a convergent approach to the synthesis of peripheral metallodendrimers. Moss and Liao^{147–149} reported the synthesis of a fourth generation tridendron with 48 ruthenium complexes on the periphery by using 3,5-dihydroxybenzyl alcohol as a repeat unit in a approach similar to that of Fréchet. Obviously, a prerequisite of the convergent method is that the metal complex tolerate the reaction conditions used to make the dendrimer since it is introduced at the beginning of the synthesis.

2. Dendrimers with Coordination Centers throughout All Layers

Dendrimers with coordination centers in every layer were constructed by directly employing coordination complexes as building blocks for branching or bridging. Syntheses have been reported through the divergent, convergent or one-pot hyperbranched polymerization strategies. Balzani, Denti, Campagna, and co-workers^{150–156} reported the synthesis of a series of dendritic ruthenium(II)–polypyridine complexes in which 2,3- or 2,5-bis(2-pyridyl)pyrazine

(dpp, 57) was employed as a bridging ligand and 2,2'bipyridine as a terminating ligand. Balzani refers to their approach as the "complexes as ligands and complexes as metals" strategy. These novel organometallic dendrimers displayed interesting absorption and redox properties as investigated by UV-visible spectroscopy, luminescence, and differential pulse voltammetry. Recently, a more controlled assembly of organometallic dendrimers was facilitated by the preparation of a monomethylated 2,3-dpp (Medpp, **58**) ligand so that one side is temporarily protected from complexation. The methyl group of Medpp can be selectively removed so that its metal complexing ability is restored for further growth. A second generation tridendron 56 with up to 22 Ru(II) metal complexes was synthesized by this method (Figure 36). By using this more elaborate strategy, different metals and ligands are expected to be introduced without difficulty.

Similarly, Reinhoudt and co-workers¹⁵⁷ recently synthesized metallodendrimers with up to 47 palladium complexes through a controlled divergent approach. The assembly takes advantage of a kineti-



Figure 38. Convergent synthesis of dendritic platinum complexes reported by Puddephatt and co-workers.



Figure 39. Construction of dendritic mutilayers.

cally inert tridentate (S–C–S) palladium complex which is labile toward substitution when the fourth ligand is a nitrile group, but is stable with chloride as the ligand. The chloride group, however, can be selectively removed by treatment with AgBF₄. Therefore, using tris(palladium chloride) **59** as a core, and bis(palladium chloride) nitrile **60a** as an AB₂ repeat monomer, palladium dendrimers up to the third generation can be assembled through iterative treatment with AgBF₄ followed by nitrile–palladium complexation (Figure 37). These dendrimers were well characterized by a combination of traditional spectroscopic techniques and combustion analysis.

On the other hand, Reinhoudt and co-workers¹⁵⁸ had previously reported the assembly of similar hyperbranched dendrimers through an uncontrolled polymerization of AB_2 monomer **60b**. The labile acetonitrile ligand was removed by heating 60b under reduced pressure, thus inducing an intermolecular coordination of benzylnitrile group with the tridentate palladium, which leads to a metallopolymer. The benzyl nitrile coordination was shown by FT-IR spectroscopy and ¹H NMR studies further indicated that the self-assembly process could be reversed by addition of acetonitrile. The polymeric aggregate was shown to be spherical with a diameter of about 200 nm as characterized by the combination of quasielastic light scattering (QELS), atomic force microscopy (AFM), and transmission electron microscopy (TEM). As a control, an analogous AB monomer did not self-assemble into globular structure, although conclusive evidence for a hyperbranched structure is needed.

Puddephatt and co-workers¹⁵⁹⁻¹⁶¹ employed the convergent strategy in the synthesis of dendritic platinum complexes of up to the fourth generation number with 28 coordination centers. The synthesis involved a two-step iterative procedure where oxidative addition of [PtMe₂(bipyridine)] (61) into the repeat monomer 5,5'-bis(bromomethyl)-2,2'-bipyridine (62), was followed by treatment with [Pt₂Me₄- $(\mu$ -SMe)₂] (63) to transform the new bipyridine moieties into dimethylplatinum complexes (Figure 38). The products were characterized by UV-visible spectroscopy, NMR and GPC. Alternatively, the reaction of 62 and 63 together led to the uncontrolled assembly of a hyperbranched polyplatinum complex, although its structure was not characterized, due to insolubility.¹⁶¹

D. Self-Assembly of Dendritic Monolayers and Multilayers

Due to the their large size and globular shape, dendrimers and hyperbranched polymers are attractive building blocks for the construction of monolayer or multilayer films. For example, Regen and coworkers¹⁶² employed amine-terminated PAMAM dendrimers to construct multilayer materials. The fabrication of these multilayers involved a repetitive activation with K₂PtCl₄ on a silicon wafer containing primary amino groups on the surface, followed by deposition of the PAMAM dendrimer (Figure 39). The film thickness was shown by ellipsometry to increase linearly as a function of the number of cycles performed. Multilayers with a thickness close to 800 Å were constructed by using the fourth or sixth generation PAMAM dendrimers with 16 or 12 cycles, respectively. The elemental composition of the multilayers was examined by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) after 4.5 and 5 cycles to demonstrate the incorporation of PAMAM dendrimers into the multilayers. The Pt²⁺ layer was also shown to be present and compulsory because no measurable layer growth was detected if the activation cycle was eliminated.

In a different approach, Crooks, Bergbreiter, and co-workers¹⁶³ modified a mercaptoundecanoic acid (MUA) self-assembled monolayer (SAM) by covalently linking hyperbranched dendrimers to its surface. Thus, the carboxylic acid groups of the SAM were activated and reacted with amine-terminated poly-(*tert*-butyl acrylate). Hydrolysis of the ester groups with *p*-toluenesulfonic acid afforded the first layer of branched polycarboxylic acids. Repetition of this reaction sequence led to the formation of a thick and compact hyperbranched polymer layer. Each intermediate was examined by FTIR external reflection spectroscopy (ERS) and its composition was confirmed by elemental analysis using XPS. As the iterative reactions proceed, the ellipsometric thickness was shown to increase exponentially with a high density of functional groups on the surface. These modified SAMs terminated with carboxylic acids were demonstrated to be capable of further modification or to bind metal ions.

Similarly, Crooks and co-workers¹⁶⁴ modified the MUA-SAMs with amine-terminated PAMAM dendrimers through amide linkage (Figure 40). FTIR-



Figure 40. SAM modified with amine-terminated PAMAM dendrimers.

ERS studies indicated that the original carboxylic acid surface was almost completely reacted to form amide bonds. It was shown that the dendrimer diameter and ellipsometric thickness correlated well with amide I and II peak area, illustrating the formation of a more spherical dendrimer monolayer as the generation increases. The surface reactivity of these dendrimer-modified monolayers through the Michael addition to methyl acrylate was measured by monitoring the ester peak by FTIR. No surface reactivity was observed in the low generation monolayer, but the reactivity increased linearly as a function of dendrimer radius for the high generation dendritic monolayers. These results suggest that the smaller dendrimers are extended and fully react with the SAM, but the larger dendrimers become more globular with only a fraction of amino groups linking to the SAM. The responses of these dendrimermodified SAMs to several volatile chemicals were evaluated through a surface acoustic wave (SAW) mass balance. The results showed that the monolayers possessed the necessary requirements for a chemical sensor: selective, rapid, and reversible responses with excellent signal-to-noise ratios.

Besides functioning as sensors, dendrimer-modified surfaces can potentially be applied to the chromatographic separations,^{165–168} as catalysts, and as multiple redox reaction centers.¹⁶⁹

IV. Conclusions and Future Developments

Dendrimers are a new class of aesthetically appealing macromolecules. A diverse array of repeat monomers has been used to make dendrimers, and indeed much of the initial efforts in this area have focused on synthesis. Now that such a wide range of dendritic macromolecules are available, from purely organic dendrimers (i.e., C, H containing) to those substituted with heteroatoms,¹⁷⁰⁻¹⁸⁰ and organometallic units (vide supra), attention is shifting toward the properties and applications of these novel polymers. As described herein, the novel architecture of dendrimers can serve as a versatile platform for endoor exo-receptor-substrate (host-guest) interactions. For example, the endo-receptor properties were exploited in the design of novel encapsulation agents and as models of protein function, whereas the exoreceptor properties were used in the design of artificial gene-transfer materials, multiligand arrays, and MRI contrast agents. In addition, dendrimers have been employed as building blocks for the selfassembly of several larger nano-and mesoscopic structures, including mono- and multilayers, micellar aggregates, and discrete hydrogen-bonded superstructures. The rational design of supramolecular systems that use polymers is clearly an emerging area with unlimited possibilities for fundamental new discoveries and practical applications.

The field of dendrimer chemistry is currently in an explosive growth phase. Important applications will likely emerge in the next few years in diverse areas including materials science and the biomedical sciences. The most successful new developments are likely to capitalize on a particular unique feature of the dendrimer architecture, for example, the recent use of the multiple surface groups as antennae for photoinduced energy or electron transfer.^{181,182} In this regard, it will be particularly interesting to see if dendrimers built from AB₂ monomers or containing chiral surface groups are useful in chiral recognition and enantiomer separations.¹⁸³⁻¹⁹¹ New polymer architectures with dendritic components can also be expected. For example, dendrimers can be used as polymerizable building blocks for the construction of a novel type of hybrid polymer.^{192,193} Dendrigrafts, including the comb-burst dendrimers, are a subclass of dendritic polymers with particularly high molecular weights yet some retain their water solubility and may be useful as high capacity unimolecular micelles.^{194,195}

Despite a shift in focus toward property discovery and applications, the importance of new synthetic methods will continue to be important until dendritic polymers can be produced cheaply on industrial scale. Two areas where improvements are critically needed is in the efficiency of dendrimer construction and in monomer cost. In the former, much progress has been recorded in the last 2-3 years. For example, dendrimer synthesis via an orthogonal coupling strategy eliminates protection or activation steps, thus greatly reducing the number of synthetic and purification steps required.¹⁹⁶ At the same time, methods for the preparation of hyperbranched polymers with low polydispersities have appeared recently and improvements in this area are likely.¹⁹⁷⁻²⁰¹ A totally unexplored area in polymer chemistry is the synthesis of combinatorial libraries. The combinatorial approach to polymer synthesis represents a particular challenge, but one which should greatly facilitate property discovery.

V. Acknowledgments

Funding by the National Institutes of Health (GM39782) is gratefully acknowledged. F.Z. thanks the University of Illinois Department of Chemistry for a fellowship.

VI. References

- Tomalia, D. A.; Naylor, A. M.; Goddard, W. A., III Starburst Dendrimers: Control of Size, Shape, Surface Chemistry, Topology and Flexibility in the Conversion of Atoms to Macroscopic Materials. *Angew. Chem.* **1990**, *102*, 119–57.
- (2) Tomalia, D. A.; Durst, H. D. Genealogically Directed Synthesis: Starburst/Cascade Dendrimers and Hyperbranched Structures. *Top. Curr. Chem.* **1993**, *165*, 193–313.
- (3) Newkome, G. R.; Moorefield, C. N.; Vögtle, F. Dendritic Macromolecules: Concepts, Syntheses, Perspectives; VCH: Weinheim, Germany, 1996.
- (4) Fréchet, J. M. J. Functional Polymers and Dendrimers Reactivity, Molecular Architecture, and Interfacial Energy. *Science* 1994, *263*, 1710–1715.
- (5) Voit, B. I. Dendritic Polymers From Aesthetic Macromolecules to Commercially Interesting Materials. *Acta Polym.* 1995, 46, 87–99.
- (6) Ardoin, N.; Astruc, D. Molecular Trees From Syntheses Towards Applications. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1995, 132, 875–909.
- (7) Kim, Y. H. Highly Branched Polymers. Adv. Mater. 1992, 4, 764-766.
- (8) Merrifield, R. B. Solid Phase Peptide Synthesis. I. The Synthesis of a Tetrapeptide. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1963, 85, 2149-2154.
- (9) Denkewalter, R. G.; Kolc, J. F.; Lukasavage, W. J. Macromolecular Highly Branched Homogeneous Compound. U.S. Pat. 4,-410,688, 1983.
- (10) Buhleier, E.; Wehner, W.; Vögtle, F. "Cascade"- and "Nonskid-Chain-like" Synthesis of Molecular Cavity Topologies. *Synthesis* 1978, 155.
- (11) de Brabander-van den Berg, E. M. M.; Meijer, E. W. Poly-(propylene imine) Dendrimers - Large-Scale Synthesis By Hetereogeneously Catalyzed Hydrogenations. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1993**, *32*, 1308–1311.
- (12) Worner, C.; Mulhaupt, R. Polynitrile-Functional and Polyamine-Functional Poly(Trimethylene Imine) Dendrimers. *Angew. Chem.*, *Int. Ed. Engl.* **1993**, *32*, 1306–1308.
- (13) Tomalia, D. A. Starburst/cascade Dendrimers: Fundamental Building Blocks for a New Nanoscopic Chemistry Set. Aldrichimica Acta 1993, 26, 91–101.
- (14) Newkome, G. R.; Gupta, V. K.; Baker, G. R.; Yao, Z.-Q. Cascade Molecules: A New Approach to Micelle. A [27]-Arborol. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 2003.
- (15) Hawker, C. J.; Fréchet, J. M. J. Preparation of Polymers with Controlled Molecular Architecture. A New Convergent Approach to Dendritic Macromolecules. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7638-7647.
- (16) Miller, T. M.; Neenan, T. X. Convergent Synthesis of Monodisperse Dendrimers Based Upon 1,3,5-Trisubstituted Benzenes. *Chem. Mater.* 1990, 2, 346–349.
- (17) Xu, Z. F.; Moore, J. S. Stiff Dendritic Macromolecules. 3. Rapid Construction of Large-Size Phenylacetylene Dendrimers Up to 12.5 Nanometers in Molecular Diameter. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1993**, *32*, 1354–1357.
- (18) Xu, Z. F.; Moore, J. S. Synthesis and Characterization of a High Molecular Weight Stiff Dendrimer. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1993**, *32*, 246–248.
- (19) Lehn, J.-M. Supramolecular Chemistry-Scope and Perspectives Molecules, Supermolecules, and Molecular Devices (Nobel Lecture). Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 90–112.
- (20) Lehn, J.-M. Perspectives in Supramolecular Chemistry-From Molecular Recognition Towards Molecualar Information Processing and Self-Organization. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1990**, 29, 1304-1319.
- (21) Lehn, J. M. Perspectives in Supramolecular Chemistry From Molecular Recognition Towards Self-Organisation. *Pure Appl. Chem.* 1994, *66*, 1961–1966.
- (22) Cram, D. J. The Design of Molecular Hosts, Guests, and Their Complexes (Nobel Lecture). *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* 1988, 27, 1009–1112.
- (23) Lindsey, J. S. Self-Assembly in Synthetic Routes to Molecular Devices. Biological Principles and Chemical Perspectives: A Review. *New. J. Chem.* **1991**, *15*, 153–180.
- (24) Maciejewski, M. Concepts of Trapping Topologically by Shell Molecules. J. Macromol. Sci.-Chem. 1982, A17, 689–703.
- (25) de Gennes, P. G.; Hervet, H. Statistics of "Starburst" Polymers. J. Phys. Lett. 1983, 44, 351–360.
- (26) Naylor, A. M.; Goddard, W. A. I.; Kiefer, G. E.; Tomalia, D. A. Starburst dendrimers. 5. Molecular Shape Control. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 2339–2341.

- (27) Meltzer, A. D.; Tirrell, D. A.; Jones, A. A.; Inglefield, P. T.; Downing, D. M.; Tomalia, D. A. Carbon-13 NMR Relaxation in Poly(Amido Amine) Starburst. *Polym. Prepr.* **1989**, *30* (1), 121– 2.
- (28) Meltzer, A. D. T., D. A.; Jones, A. A.; Inglefield, P. T.; Hedstrand, D. A.; Tomalia, D. A. Chain Dynamics in Poly(amido amine) Dendrimers. A Study of ¹³C NMR Relaxation Parameters. *Macromolecules* **1992**, *25*, 4541–4548.
- (29) Newkome, G. R.; Moorefield, C. N.; Baker, G. R.; Saunders, M. J.; Grossman, S. H. Alkane Cascade Polymers Possessing Micellar Topology: Micellanoic Acid Derivatives. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 1178–1180.
- (30) Hawker, C. J.; Wooley, K. L.; Fréchet, J. M. J. Unimolecular Micelles and Globular Amphiphiles - Dendritic Macromolecules as Novel Recyclable Solubilization Agents. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 1 1993, 21, 1287–1297.
- (31) Kim, Y. H.; Webster, O. W. Water-Soluble Hyperbrached Polyphenylene: "A Unimolecular Micelle". J. Am. Chem. Soc 1990, 112, 4592–4593.
- (32) Stevelmans, S.; Van Hest, J. C. M.; Jansen, J. F. G. A.; Van Boxtel, D. A. F. J.; de Brabander-van den Berg, E. M. M.; Meijer, E. W. Synthesis, Characterization, and Guest-Host Properties of Inverted Unimolecular Dendritic Micelles. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1996**, *118*, 7398–7399.
- (33) Mattei, S.; Seiler, P.; Diederich, F.; Gramlich, V. Dendrophanes: Water-Soluble Dendritic Receptors. *Helvetica Chim. Acta* 1995, 78, 1904–1912.
- (34) Newkome, G. R.; Lin, X. Symmetrical, Four-Directional, Poly-(ether-amide) Cascade Polymers. *Macromolecules* 1991, 24, 1443.
- (35) Wallimann, P.; Seiler, P.; Diederich, F. Dendrophanes Novel Steroid-Recognizing Dendritic Receptors. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 1996, 779–788.
- (36) Newkome, G. R.; Woosley, B. D.; He, E.; Moorefield, C. N.; Guther, R.; Baker, G.R.; Escamilla, G. H.; Merrill, J.; Luftmann, H. Supramolecular Chemistry of Flexible, Dendritic-Based Structures Employing Molecular Recognition. *Chem. Commun.* 1996, 2737–2738.
- (37) Stoddart, J. F.; Philp, D. Self-Assembly in Natural and Unnatural System. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 1154– 1196.
- (38) Tzalis, D.; Tor, Y. Toward Self-Assembling Dendrimers Metal Complexation Induces the Assembly of Hyperbranched Structures. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 8293–8296.
- (39) Newkome, G. R.; Guther, R.; Moorefield, C. N.; Cardullo, F.; Echegoyen, L.; Perezcordero, E.; Luftmann, H. Routes To Dendritic Networks - Bis-Dendrimers by Coupling of Cascade Macromolecules Through Metal Centers. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1995**, *34*, 2023–2026.
- (40) Chow, H. F.; Chan, I. Y. K.; Chan, D. T. W.; Kwok, R. W. M. Dendritic Models of Redox Proteins - X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy and Cyclic Voltammetry Studies of Dendritic Bis-(terpyridine) Iron(II) Complexes. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1996**, *2*, 1085– 1091.
- (41) Dandliker, P. J.; Diederich, F.; Gross, M.; Knobler, C. B.; Louati, A.; Sanford, E. M. Dendritic Porphyrins - Modulating Redox Potentials of Electroactive Chromophores with Pendant Multifunctionality. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1994**, *33*, 1739–1742.
- (42) Dandliker, P. J.; Diederich, F.; Gisselbrecht, J. P.; Louati, A.; Gross, M. Water-Soluble Dendritic Iron Porphyrins - Synthetic Models of Globular Heme Proteins. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1996**, *34*, 2725–2728.
- (43) Tomoyose, Y.; Jiang, D. L.; Jin, R. H.; Aida, T.; Yamashita, T.; Horie, K.; Yashima, E.; Okamoto, Y. Aryl Ether Dendrimers With an Interior Metalloporphyrin Functionality as a Spectroscopic Probe - Interpenetrating Interaction With Dendritic Imidazoles. *Macromolecules* **1996**, *29*, 5236–5238.
- (44) Hawker, C. J.; Wooley, K. L.; Fréchet, J. M. J. Solvatochromism as a Probe of the Microenvironment in Dendritic Polyethers -Transition From an Extended to a Globular Structure. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 4375–4376.
- (45) Nagasaki, T.; Kimura, O.; Ukon, M.; Hamachi, I.; Shinkai, S.; Arimori, S. Synthesis, Metal-Binding Properties and Polypeptide Solubilization of Crowned Arborols. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* **1994**, *1*, 75–81.
- (46) Jansen, J. F. G. A.; de Brabander-van den Berg, E. M. M.; Meijer, E. W. Encapsulation of Guest Molecules Into A Dendritic Box. *Science* 1994, *266*, 1226–1229.
- (47) Jansen, J. F. G. A.; de Brabander-van den Berg, E. M. M.; Meijer, E. W. Induced Chirality of Guest Molecules Encapsulated Into A Dendritic Box. *Rec. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas* **1995**, *114*, 225– 230.
- (48) Jansen, J. F. G. A.; Janssen, R. A. J.; de Brabander-van den Berg, E. M. M.; Meijer, E. W. Triplet Radical Pairs of 3-Carboxyproxyl Encapsulated in A Dendritic Box. *Adv. Mater.* 1995, 7, 561–564.
- (49) Jansen, J. F. G. A.; Meijer, E. W.; de Brabander-van den Berg, E. M. M. Bengal Rose-At-Dendritic Box. *Macromol. Symp.* 1996, 102, 27–33.

- (50) Jansen, J. F. G. A.; Meijer, E. W.; de Brabander-van den Berg, E. M. M. The Dendritic Box: Shape-Selective Liberation of Encapsulated Guests. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 4417–4418.
- (51) Moreno-Bondi, M. C.; Orellana, G.; Turro, N. J.; Tomalia, D. A. Photoinduced Electron-Transfer Reactions to Probe the Structure of Starburst Dendrimers. *Macromolecules* **1990**, *23*, 910– 912.
- (52) Caminati, G.; Turro, N. J.; Tomalia, D. A. Photophysical Investigation of Starburst Dendrimers and Their Interactions with Anionic and Cationic Surfactants. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 8515–8522.
- (53) Turro, C.; Niu, S. F.; Bossmann, S. H.; Tomalia, D. A.; Turro, N. J. Binding of *Ru(Phen)₃²⁺ To Starburst Dendrimers and Its Quenching By Co(Phen)₃³⁺-Generation Dependence of the Quenching Rate Constant. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1995**, *99*, 5512–5517.
- (54) Turro, N. J.; Barton, J. K.; Tomalia, D. A. Molecular Recognition and Chemistry in Restricted Reaction Spaces. Photophysics and Photoinduced Electron Transfer on the Surfaces of Micelles, Dendrimers, and DNA. Acc. Chem. Res. 1991, 24, 332–40.
- (55) Niu, S.; Turro, C.; Bossmann, S. H.; Tomalia, D. A.; Turro, N. J. Binding of *Ru(Phen)₃²⁺ To Starburst Dendrimers and Its Quenching By Co(Phen)₃³⁺: Generation Dependence of the Quenching Rate Constant. J. Phys. Chem. **1995**, 99, 5512–17.
- (56) Jockusch, S.; Turro, N. J.; Tomalia, D. A. Aggregation of Methylene Blue Adsorbed on Starburst Dendrimers. *Macromolecules* 1995, *28*, 7416–7418.
- (57) Ottaviani, M. F.; Bossmann, S.; Turro, N. J.; Tomalia, D. A. Characterization of Starburst Dendrimers By the EPR Technique. 1. Copper Complexes in Water Solution. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1994**, *116*, 661–671.
- (58) Ottaviani, M. F.; Cossu, E.; Turro, N. J.; Tomalia, D. A. Characterization of Starburst Dendrimers By Electron Paramagnetic Resonance. 2. Positively Charged Nitroxide Radicals of Variable Chain Length Used as Spin Probes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 4387–4398.
- (59) Sadamoto, R.; Tomioka, N.; Aida, T. Photoinduced Electron Transfer Reactions Through Dendrimer Architecture. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 3978-3979.
- (60) Li, Y. J.; Dubin, P. L.; Spindler, R.; Tomalia, D. A. Complex Formation Between Poly(dimethyldiallylammonium chloride) and Carboxylated Starburst Dendrimers. *Macromolecules* 1995, 28, 8426–8428.
- (61) Kabanov, A. V.; Kabanov, V. A. DNA Complexes With Polycations for the Delivery of Genetic Material Into Cells. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1995**, *6*, 7–20.
- (62) Behr, J.-P. Synthetic Gene-Transfer Vectors. Acc. Chem. Res. 1993, 26, 274–278.
- (63) Boussif, O.; Lezoualc'h, F.; Zanta, M. A.; Mergny, M. D.; Scherman, D.; Demeneix, B.; Behr, J.-P. A Versatile Vector for Gene and Oligonucleotide Transfer Into Cells in Culture and *in vivo*: Polyethylenimine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1995**, *92*, 7297–7301.
- (64) Wagner, E.; Cotten, M.; Foisner, R.; Birnstiel, M. L. Transferrin-Polycation-DNA Complexes: the Effect of Polycations on the Structure of the Complex and DNA Delivery To Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1991**, *88*, 4255–4259.
- (65) Haensler, J.; Szoka, F. C., Jr. Polyamidoamine Cascade Polymers Mediate Efficient Transfection of Cells in Culture. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1993**, *4*, 372–379.
- (66) Tang, M.; Redemann, C. T.; Szoka, F. C. J. *In-vitro* Gene Delivery By Defective Polyamidoamine Dendrimers. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1996**, 7, 703–714.
- (67) Kukowska-Latallo, J. F.; Bielinska, A. U.; Johnson, J.; Spindler, R.; Tomalia, D. A.; Baker, J. R. J. Efficient Transfer of Genetic Material Into Mammalian Cells Using Starbust Polyamidoamine Dendrimers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1996**, *93*, 4897–4902.
- (68) Bielinska, A.; Kukowska-Latallo, J. F.; Johnson, J.; Tomalia, D. A.; Baker, J.R. J. Regulation of in *vitro* Gene Expression Using Antisence Oligonucleotides or Antisence Expression Plasmids Transfected Using Starbust PAMAM Dendrimers. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1996**, *24*, 2176–2182.
- (69) Tam, J. P. Synthetic Peptide Vaccine Design: Synthesis and Properties of a High-Density Multiple Antigenic Peptide System. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1988**, *85*, 5409–5413.
- (70) Posnett, D. N.; Mcgrath, H.; Tam, J. P. A Novel Method for Producing Anti-Peptide Antibodies. J. Biol. Chem. 1988, 263, 1719–1725.
- (71) Tam, J. P.; Lu, Y.-A. Vaccine Engineering: Enhancement of Immunogenicity of Synthetic Peptied Vaccines Related to Hepatitis in Chemically Defined Models Consisting of T- and B-Cell Epitopes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1989, 86, 9084–9088.
- (72) Defort, J.-P.; Nardelli, B.; Huang, W.; Ho, D. D.; Tam, J. P. Macromolecular Assemblage in the Design of a Synthetic AIDS Vaccine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 1992, *89*, 3879–3883.
- (73) Rao, C.; Tam, J. P. Synthesis of Peptide Dendrimer. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 6975-6976.
- (74) Shao, J.; Tam, J. P. Unprotected Peptides as Building Blocks for the Synthesis of Peptide Dendrimers with Oxime, Hydrazone, and Thiazolidine Linkages. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 3893– 3899.

- (75) Spetzler, J. C.; Tam, J. P. Unprotected Peptides as Building Blocks for Branched Peptides and Peptide Dendrimers. *Int. J. Pept. Protein Res.* **1995**, 45, 78–85.
- (76) Rose, K. Facile Synthesis of Homogeneous Artificial Proteins. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 30–33.
- (77) Pallin, T. D.; Tam, J. P. Assembly of Cyclic Peptide Dendrimers From Unprotected Linear Building Blocks in Aqueous Solution. *Chem. Commun.* **1996**, 1345–1346.
- (78) Sharon, N.; Lis, H. Carbohydrates in Cell Recognition. *Sci. Am.* **1993**, 82–89.
- (79) Lee, Y. C.; Lee, R. T. Carbohydrate-Protein Interactions: Basis of Glycobiology. Acc. Chem. Res. **1995**, 28, 321–327.
- (80) Roy, R.; Zanini, D.; Meunier, S. J.; Romanowska, A. Solid-Phase Synthesis of Dendritic Sialoside Inhibitors of Influenza A Virus Hemagglutinin. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1869– 72.
- (81) Roy, R. Glycodendrimers: A New Class of Biopolymers. *Polym.* News **1996**, 21, 226–232.
- (82) Roy, R.; Park, W. K. C.; Wu, Q.; Wang, S.-N. Synthesis of Hyper-Branched Dendritic Lactosides. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1995, 25, 4377–4380.
- (83) Zanini, D.; Park, W. K. C.; Roy, R. Synthesis of Novel Dendritic Glycosides. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1995, *36*, 7383–7386.
- (84) Page, D.; Zanini, D.; Roy, R. Macromolecular Recognition: Effect of Multivalency in the Inhibition of Binding of Yeast Mannan to Concanavalin A and Pea Lectins by Mannosylated Dendrimers. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **1996**, *4*, in press.
- (85) Aoi, K.; Itoh, K.; Okada, M. Globular Carbohydrate Macromolecule Sugar Balls. 1. Synthesis of Novel Sugar-Persubstituted Poly(Amido Amine) Dendrimers. *Macromolecules* 1995, 28, 5391-5393.
- (86) Toyokuni, T.; Hakomori, S.-I.; Singhal, A. K. Synthetic Carbohydrate Vaccines: Synthesis and Immunogenicity of Tn Antigen Conjugates. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **1994**, *2*, 1119–1132.
- (87) Lindhorst, T. K.; Kieburg, C. Glycocoating of Oligovalent Amines - Synthesis of Thiourea-Bridged Cluster Glycosides From Glycosyl Isothiocyanates. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 1953–1956.
- (88) Ashton, P. R.; Boyd, S. E.; Brown, C. L.; Jayaraman, N.; Nepogodiev, S. A.; Stoddart, J. F. Synthetic Carbohydrate Dendrimers. 1. A Convergent Synthesis of Carbohydrate-Containing Dendrimers. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1996**, *2*, 1115–1128.
- (89) Zanini, D.; Roy, R. Novel Dendritic α-Sialosides Synthesis of Glycodendrimers Based on a 3,3'-Iminobis(propylamine) Core. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 7348–7354.
- (90) James, T. D.; Sandanayake, K. R. A. S.; Iguchi, R.; Shinkai, S. Chiral Discrimination of Monosaccharides Using a Fluorescent Molecular Sensor. *Nature* **1995**, *374*, 345–347.
- (91) James, T. D.; Shinmori, H.; Takeuchi, M.; Shinkai, S. A Saccharide Sponge - Synthesis and Properties of a Dendritic Boronic Acid. *Chem. Commun.* **1996**, 705–706.
- (92) Wiener, E. C.; Brechbiel, M. W.; Brothers, H.; Magin, R. L.; Gansow, O. A.; Tomalia, D. A.; Lauterbur, P. C. Dendrimer-Based Metal Chelates: A New Class of Magnetic Resonance Imaging Contrast Agents. *Magn. Reson. Med.* **1994**, *31*, 1–8.
 (93) Martin, V. V.; Ralston, W. H.; Hynes, M. R.; Keana, J. F. W.
- (93) Martin, V. V.; Ralston, W. H.; Hynes, M. R.; Keana, J. F. W. Gadolinium (III) Di- and Tetrachelates Designed for *in vivo* Noncovalent Complexation With Plasma Proteins: A Novel Molecular Design for Blood Pool MRI Contrast Enhancing Agents. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1995**, *6*, 616–623.
- (94) Barth, R. F.; Adams, D. M.; Soloway, A. H.; Alam, F.; Darby, M. V. Boronated Starburst Dendrimer-Monoclonal Antibody Immunoconjugates: Evaluation as a Potential Delivery System for Neutron Capture Therapy. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1994**, *5*, 58– 66.
- (95) Barth, R. F.; Adams, D. M.; Soloway, A. H.; Darby, M. V. in vivo Distribution of Boronated Monoclonal Antibodies and Starburst Dendrimers, Barth, R. F., Adams, D. M., Soloway, A. H., Darby, M. V., Eds.; Plenum: New York, NY, 1992.
- (96) Duan, R. G.; Miller, L. L.; Tomalia, D. A. An Electrically Conducting Dendrimer. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 10783– 10784.
- (97) Miller, L. L.; Hashimoto, T.; Tabakovic, I.; Swanson, D. R.; Tomalia, D. A. Delocalized Π-Stacks Formed on Dendrimers. *Chem. Mater.* 1995, 7, 9–11.
- (98) Bryce, M. R.; Devonport, W.; Moore, A. J. Dendritic Macromolecules Incorporating Tetrathiafulvalene Units. *Angew. Chem.*, *Int. Ed. Engl.* **1994**, *33*, 1761–1763.
- (99) Bryce, M. R.; Devonport, W. New Oligomeric Hyper-Branched Esters Incorporating Tetrathiafulvalene - Synthesis, Electrochemistry and Charge-Transfer Complexes. *Synth. Met.* 1996, 76, 305–307.
- (100) Issberner, J.; Bohme, M.; Grimme, S.; Nieger, M.; Paulus, W.; Vögtle, F. Poly(amine/imine) Dendrimers Bearing Planar Chiral Terminal Groups - Synthesis and Chiroptical Properties. *Tetrahedron Asymmetry* **1996**, *7*, 2223–2232.
- (101) Roberts, J. C.; Adams, Y. E.; Tomalia, D.; Mercer-Smith, J. A.; Lavallee, D. K. Using Starburst Dendrimers as Linker Molecules to Radiolabel Antibodies. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1990**, *1*, 305–8.

- (102) Wu, C.; Brechbiel, M. W.; Kozak, R. W.; Gansow, O. A. Metal-Chelate-Dendrimer-Antibody Constructs for Use in Radioim-munotherapy and Imaging. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1994**, *4*, 449 - 54
- (103) Escamilla, G. H.; Newkome, G. R. Bolaamphiphiles: From Golf Balls To Fibers. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 1937-1940.
- (104) Newkome, G. R.; Baker, G. R.; Saunders, M. J.; Russo, P. S.; Gupta, V. K.; Yao, Z.-Q.; Miller, J. E.; Bouillion, K. Two-Directional Cascade Molecules: Synthesis and Characterization of [9]-n-[9] Arborols. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 752-753.
- (105) Newkome, G. R.; Yao, Z.-Q.; Baker, G. R.; Gupta, V. K.; Russo, P. S.; Saunders, M. J. Cascade Molecules: Synthesis and Characterization of a Benzene[9]³-Arborol. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1986**, 108, 849-850.
- (106) Newkome, G. R.; Baker, G. R.; Arai, S.; Saunders, M. J.; Russo, P. S.; Theriot, K. J.; Moorefield, C. N.; Rogers, L. E.; Miller, J. E.; Lieux, T. R.; Murray, M. E.; Phillips, B.; Pascal, L. Synthesis and Characterization of Two-Directional Cascade Molecules and Formation of Aqueous Gels. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 8458-8465.
- (107) Newkome, G. R.; Moorefield, C. N.; Baker, G. R.; Behera, R. K.; Escamillia, G. H.; Saunders, M. J. Supramolecular Self-Assemblies of Two-Directional Cascade Molecules: Automorphogenesis. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1992**, *31*, 917–919. (108) Newkome, G. R.; Lin, X.; Chen, Y.; Escamilla, G. H. Two-
- Directional Cascade Polymer Synthesis: Effects of Core Variation. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 3123-3129.
- (109) Jørgensen, M.; Bechgaard, K.; Bjørnholm, T.; Sommer-Larsen, P.; Hansen, L. G.; Schaumburg, K. Synthesis and Structural Characterization of a Bis-arborol–Tetrathiafulvene Gel: Toward a Self-Assembling "Molecular" Wire. *J. Org. Chem.* **1994**, *59*, 5877 - 5882
- (110) Gitsov, I.; Wooley, K. L.; Fréchet, J. M. J. Novel Polyether Copolymers With a Linear Central Unit and Dendritic End Groups. Angew. Chem. 1992, 104, 1282-1285; Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl., 1200-1202.
- (111) Gitsov, I.; Wooley, K. L.; Hawker, C. J.; Ivanova, P. T.; Fréchet, J. M. J. Synthesis and Properties of Novel Linear Dendritic Block Copolymers - Reactivity of Dendritic Macromolecules Toward Linear Polymers. Macromolecules 1993, 26, 5621-5627.
- (112) Gitsov, I.; Fréchet, J. M. J. Solution and Solid-State Properties of Hybrid Linear-Dendritic Block Copolymers. Macromolecules **1993**, *26*, 6536–6546.
- (113) Fréchet, J. M. J.; Gitsov, I. Nanoscopic Supermolecules With Linear-Dendritic Architecture - Their Preparation and Their Supramolecular Behavior. Macromol. Symp. 1995, 98, 441–465.
- (114) Gitsov, I.; Fréchet, J. M. J. Stimuli-Responsive Hybrid Macromolecules. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1996**, 118, 3785–3786. (115) Chapman, T. M.; Hillyer, G. L.; Mahan, E. J.; Shaffer, K. A.
- Hydraamphiphiles: Novel Linear Dendritic Block Copolymer Surfactants. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 11195-11196.
- (116) Vanhest, J. C. M.; Delnoye, D. A. P.; Baars, M. W. P. L.; Vangenderen, M. H. P.; Meijer, E. W. Polystyrene-Dendrimer Amphiphilic Block Copolymers With a Generation-Dependent Aggregation. Science 1995, 268, 1592–1595.
- (117) Israelachvili, J. N. In Intermolecular and Surface Forces, Academic Press: New York, 1992; p 380. (118) Van Hest, J. C. M.; Baars, M. W. P. L.; Elissenroman, C.;
- Vangenderen, M. H. P.; Meijer, E. W. Acid-Functionalized Amphiphiles Derived from Polystyrene-Poly(propylene imine) Dendrimers, with a pH-Dependent Aggregation. Macromolecules 1995. 28. 6689-6691.
- (119) Kim, Y. H. Lyotropic Liquid Crystalline Hyperbranched Polymers. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 4947-4948.
- (120) Percec, V.; Kawasumi, M. Synthesis and Characterization of a Thermotropic Liquid-Crystalline Dendrimer. Polym. Prepr. 1992, 33 (1), 221-222.
- (121) Percec, V.; Chu, P. W.; Kawasumi, M. Toward Willowlike Thermotropic Dendrimers. Macromolecules 1994, 27, 4441-4453
- (122) Percec, V. Molecular Design of Novel Liquid Crystalline Polymers With Complex Architecture - Macrocyclics and Dendrimers. Pure Appl. Chem. 1995, 67, 2031–2038.
- (123) Percec, V.; Chu, P. W.; Ungar, G.; Zhou, J. P. Rational Design of the First Nonspherical Dendrimer Which Displays Calamitic Nematic and Smectic Thermotropic Liquid Crystalline Phases. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 11441-11454.
- (124) Li, J. F.; Crandall, K. A.; Chu, P. W.; Percec, V.; Petschek, R. G.; Rosenblatt, C. Dendrimeric Liquid Crystals - Isotropic-Nematic Pretransitional Behavior. *Macromolecules* **1996**, *29*, 7813-7819.
- (125) Ponomarenko, S. A.; Rebrov, E. A.; Bobrovsky, A. Y.; Boiko, N. I.; Muzafarov, A.M.; Shibaev, V. P. Liquid Crystalline Carbosilane Dendrimers - First Generation. Liq. Cryst. 1996, 21, 1-12.
- (126) Ponomarenko, S. A.; Rebrov, E. A.; Boiko, N. I.; Vasilenko, N. G.; Muzafarov, A.M.; Freidzon, Y. S.; Shibaev, V. P. Synthesis of Cholesterol-Containing Polyorganosiloxane Dendrimers. Vysokomol. Soedin. Ser. A Ser. B 1994, 36, 1086-1092.

- (127) Lorenz, K.; Holter, D.; Stuhn, B.; Mulhaupt, R.; Frey, H. A Mesogen-Functionalized Carbosilane Dendrimer - A Dendritic Liquid Crystalline Polymer. Adv. Mater. 1996, 8, 414+
- (128) Bauer, S.; Fischer, H.; Ringsdorf, H. Highly Branched Liquid Crystalline Polymers With Chiral Terminal Groups. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 1589–1592.
- (129) Amabilino, D. B.; Ashton, P. R.; Belohradsky, M.; Raymo, F. M.; Stoddart, J. F. The Self-Assembly of Branched [n]Rotaxanes-The First Step Towards Dendritic Rotaxanes. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 751-753
- (130) Amabilino, D. B.; Ashton, P. R.; Balzani, V.; Brown, C. L.; Credi, A.; Fréchet, J. M. J.; Leon, J. W.; Raymo, F. M.; Spencer, N.; Stoddart, J. F.; Venturi, M. Self-Assembly of [n]Rotaxanes Bearing Dendritic Stoppers. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 12012-12020.
- (131) Lawrence, D. S.; Jiang, T.; Levett, M. Self-Assembling Supramolecular Complexes. *Chem. Rev.* 1995, *95*, 2229–2260.
 (132) Zimmerman, S. C.; Zeng, F. W.; Reichert, D. E. C.; Kolotuchin,
- S. V. Self-Assembling Dendrimers. Science 1996, 271, 1095-1098.
- (133) Bhyrappa, P.; Young, J. K.; Moore, J. S.; Suslick, K. S. Den-drimer-Metalloporphyrins Synthesis and Catalysis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 5708-5711.
- (134) Jiang, D. L.; Aida, T. A Dendritic Iron Porphyrin as a Novel Haemoprotein Mimic - Effects of the Dendrimer Cage on Dioxygen-Binding Activity. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1523-1524.
- (135) Winnik, F. M.; Davidson, A. R.; Breton, M. P. Porphyrin Chromophore and Dendrimer Ink Composition. US 5256193 A 931026, 1992.
- (136) Miedaner, A.; Curtis, C. J.; Barkley, R. M.; Dubois, D. L. Electrochemical Reduction of CO2 Catalyzed By Small Organophosphine Dendrimers Containing Palladium. Inorg. Chem. **1994**, *33*, 5482–5490.
- (137) Bunz, U. H. F.; Enkelmann, V. Star-Shaped Tricarbonyl-(cyclobutadiene)iron and Cymantrene Complexes - Building Blocks for Carbon Nets and Organometallic Construction Sets. Organometallics 1994, 13, 3823-3833.
- (138) Newkome, G. R.; Cardullo, F.; Constable, E. C.; Moorefield, C. N.; Thompson, A.M. W. C. Metallomicellanols: Incorporation of Ruthenium(II)-2,2':6',2"-Terpyridine Triads Into Cascade Polymers. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 925–927.
- (139) Brunner, H.; Altmann, S. Enantioselective Catalysis. 90. Opti-cally Active Nitrogen Ligands with Dendrimeric Structure. *Chem. Ber.* 1994, *127*, 2285–2296.
 Brunner, H. Dendrizymes - Expanded Ligands for Enantiose-
- lective Catalysis. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 500, 39-46.
- (141) Brunner, H.; Bublak, P. Enantioselective Catalysis. 92. Optically Active Dendrimerphosphines with Branched Pyridine Units. *Synthesis* **1995**, 36–38
- (142) Slany, M.; Bardaji, M.; Casanove, M. J.; Caminade, A. M.; Majoral, J. P.; Chaudret, B. Dendrimer Surface Chemistry Facile Route to Polyphosphines and Their Gold Complexes. J. *Am. Chem. Soc.* **1995**, *117*, 9764–9765. (143) Moulines, F.; Djakovitch, L.; Boese, R.; Gloaguen, B.; Thiel, W.;
- Fillaut, J. L.; Delville, M. H.; Astruc, D. Organometallic Molecular Trees as Multielectron and Multiproton Reservoirs - CpFe+-Induced Nonaallylation of Mesitylene and Phase-Transfer-Catalyzed Synthesis of A Redox-Active Nonairon Complex.
- Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 1075–1077.
 (144) Alonso, B.; Cuadrado, I.; Moran, M.; Losada, J. Organometallic Silicon Dendrimers. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2575– 2576
- (145) Seyferth, D.; Kugita, T.; Rheingold, A. L.; Yap, G. P. A. Preparation of Carbosilane Dendrimers With Peripheral Acetylenedicobalt Hexacarbonyl Substituents. Organometallics 1995, 14.5362 - 5366
- (146) Knapen, J. W. J.; Vandermade, A. W.; Dewilde, J. C.; Vanleeuwen, P. W. N. M.; Wijkens, P.; Grove, D. M.; Vankoten, G. Homogeneous Catalysts Based on Silane Dendrimers Functionalized with Arylnickel(II) Complexes. Nature 1994, 372, 659-663.
- (147) Liao, Y. H.; Moss, J. R. Ruthenium-Containing Organometallic Dendrimers. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 7, 4922-4936
- (148) Liao, Y. H.; Moss, J. R. Synthesis of Very Large Organoruthe-nium Dendrimers. *Organometallics* **1995**, *14*, 2130–2132.
- (149) Moss, J. R. New Large Molecules Contain Ruthenium. Platinum Met. Rev. 1995, 39, 33-6.
- (150) Balzani, V.; Denti, G.; Serroni, S.; Campagna, S.; Ricevuto, V.; Juris, A. Supramolecular Photochemistry - Luminescent and Redox Active Dendritic Polynuclear Metal Complexes. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci., Chem. Sci. 1993, 105, 421-434.
- (151) Balzani, V.; Campagna, S.; Denti, G.; Juris, A.; Serroni, S.; Venturi, M. Bottom-Up Strategy to Obtain Luminescent and Redox-Active Metal Complexes of Nanometric Dimensions. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1994, 132, 1-13.
- (152) Balzani, V.; Campagna, S.; Denti, G.; Juris, A.; Serroni, S.; Venturi, M. Harvesting Sunlight by Artificial Supramolecular Antennae. Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells 1995, 38, 159–173. Campagna, S.; Denti, G.; Serroni, S.; Juris, A.; Venturi, M.
- (153)Ricevuto, V.; Balzani, V. Dendrimers of Nanometer Size Based

on Metal Complexes - Luminescent and Redox-Active Polynuclear Metal Complexes Containing up to Twenty-two Metal Centers. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1995**, *1*, 211–221.

- (154) Juris, A.; Venturi, M.; Pontoni, L.; Resino, I. R.; Balzani, V.; Serroni, S.; Campagna, S.; Denti, G. Protected Building Blocks for Luminescent and Redox-Active Dendritic Metal Complexes - Excited State Properties and Electrochemical Behavior. *Can. J. Chem.* 1995, 1875–1882.
 (155) Serroni, S.; Denti, G.; Campagna, S.; Juris, A.; Ciano, M.;
- (155) Serroni, S.; Denti, G.; Campagna, S.; Juris, A.; Ciano, M.; Balzani, V. Arborols Based on Luminescent and Redox-Active Transition Metal Complexes. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* 1992, *31*, 1493–1495.
 (156) Serroni, S.; Campagna, S.; Juris, A.; Venturi, M.; Balzani, V.
- (156) Serroni, S.; Campagna, S.; Juris, A.; Venturi, M.; Balzani, V. Polyether Arborols Mounted on A Luminescent and Redox-Active Ruthenium(II) Polypyridine Core. *Gazz. Chim. Ital.* **1994**, *124*, 423–427.
- 423-427.
 (157) Huck, W. T. S.; Vanveggel, F. C. J. M.; Reinhoudt, D. N. Controlled Assembly of Nanosized Metallodendrimers. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* 1996, *35*, 1213-1215.
 (158) Huck, W. T. S.; Vanveggel, F. C. J. M.; Kropman, B. L.; Blank, W. T. S.; Vanveggel, F. C. J. M.; Kropman, B. L.; Blank, Vanveggel, F. C. J.; M.; Kropman, B. L.; Blank, Vanveggel, F. C. J.; M.; Kropman, B. L.; Blank, Vanveggel, F. C. J.; M.; Kropman, B. L.; Blank, Vanveggel, F. C. J.; M.; Kropman, B. L.; Blank, Vanveggel, F. C. J.; M.; Kropman, B. L.; Blank, Vanveggel, F. C. J.; M.; Kropman, B. L.; Blank, Vanveggel, F. C. J.; M.; Kropman, B. L.; Blank, Vanveggel, F. C. J.; M.; Kropman, B. L.; Kropm
- (158) Huck, W. T. S.; Vanveggel, F. C. J. M.; Kropman, B. L.; Blank, D. H. A.; Keim, E. G.; Smithers, M. M. A.; Reinhoudt, D. N. Large Self-Assembled Organopalladium Spheres. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 8293–8294.
- (159) Achar, S.; Puddephatt, R. J. Large Dendrimeric Organoplatinum Complexes. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 1895–1896.
- (160) Achar, S.; Puddephatt, R. J. Organoplatinum Dendrimers Formed By Oxidative Addition. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* 1994, 33, 847-849.
- (161) Achar, S.; Vittal, J. J.; Puddephatt, R. J. Organoplatinum Dendrimers. Organometallics **1996**, *15*, 43-50.
- (162) Watanabe, S.; Regen, S. L. Dendrimers as Building Blocks for Multilayer Construction. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 8855– 8856.
- (163) Zhou, Y.; Bruening, M. L.; Bergbreiter, D. E.; Crooks, R. M.; Wells, M. Preparation of Hyperbranched Polymer Films. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1996**, *118*, 3773–3774.
- (164) Wells, M.; Crooks, R. M. Interaction Between Organized, Surface-Confined Monolayers. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 3988–3989.
- (165) Castagnola, M.; Cassiano, L.; Lupi, A.; Messana, I.; Patamia, M.; Rabino, R.; Rossetti, D. V.; Giardina, B. Ion-Exchange Electrokinetic Capillary Chromatography with Starburst (PAM-AM) Dendrimers - A Route Towards High-Performance Electrokinetic Capillary Chromatography. J. Chromatogr. 1995, 694, 463-469.
- (166) Kuzdzal, S. A.; Monnig, C. A.; Newkome, G. R.; Moorefield, C. N. Dendrimer Electrokinetic Capillary Chromatography - Unimolecular Micellar Behaviour of Carboxylic Acid Terminated Cascade Macromolecules. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 21, 0022–4936.
- (167) Muijselaar, P. G. H. M.; Claessens, H. A.; Cramers, C. A.; Jansen, J. F. G. A.; Meijer, E. W.; de Brabander-Van den Berg, E. M. M.; Vanderwal, S. Dendrimers as Pseudo-Stationary Phases in Electrokinetic Chromatography. *HRC J. High Res. Chromat.* **1995**, *18*, 121–123.
- (168) Tanaka, N.; Fukutome, T.; Hosoya, K.; Kimata, K.; Araki, T. Polymer-Supported Pseudo-Stationary Phase for Electrokinetic Chromatography - Electrokinetic Chromatography in a Full Range of Methanol-Water Mixtures With Alkylated Starburst Dendrimers. J. Chromatogr. A 1995, 716, 57-67.
- (169) Alonso, B.; Moran, M.; Casado, C. M.; Lobete, F.; Losada, J.; Cuadrado, I. Electrodes Modified with Electroactive Films of Organometallic Dendrimers. *Chem. Mater.* **1995**, *7*, 1440–1442.
- (170) Launay, N.; Caminade, A. M.; Lahana, R.; Majoral, J. P. A General Synthetic Strategy for Neutral Phosphorus-Containing Dendrimers. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 1589–1592.
- (171) Launay, N.; Caminade, A. M.; Majoral, J. P. Synthesis and Reactivity of Unusual Phosphorus Dendrimers - A Useful Divergent Growth Approach up to the Seventh Generation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 3282–3283.
 (172) Launay, N.; Galliot, C.; Caminade, A. M.; Majoral, J. P. Synthesis
- (172) Launay, N.; Galliot, C.; Caminade, A. M.; Majoral, J. P. Synthesis of Small Phosphorus Dendrimers from (S)P[N(Me)-NH₂]₃. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1995, 1149–1155.
- (173) Launay, N.; Slany, M.; Caminade, A. M.; Majoral, J. P. Phosphorus-Containing Dendrimers - Easy Access to New Multi-Difunctionalized Macromolecules. *J. Org. Chem.* **1996**, *61*, 3799– 3805.
- (174) Labarre, J. F.; Sournies, F.; Crasnier, F.; Labarre, M. C.; Vidal, C.; Faucher, J. P.; Graffeuil, M. On the Scent of Spherical Dendrimers - Cyclophosphazenic Dandelion Dendrimers up to the Eighth Generation. *Phosphorus Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem.* **1996**, 525–528.
- (175) Labarre, J. F.; Crasnier, F.; Labarre, M. C.; Sournies, F. The Saga of the Design and Synthesis of Dandelion Dendrimers. *Synlett* **1996**, 799–805.
- (176) Sournies, F.; Crasnier, F.; Graffeuil, M.; Faucher, J. P.; Lahana, R.; Labarre, M. C.; Labarre, J. F. Spherical Cyclophosphazene

Dendrimers to the Fifth Generation. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 578–581. (177) Roovers, J.; Zhou, L. L.; Toporowski, P. M.; Vanderzwan, M.;

- [177] Roovers, J.; Zhou, L. L.; Toporowski, P. M.; Vanderzwan, M.; Iatrou, H.; Hadjichristidis, N. Regular Star Polymers with 64 and 128 Arms - Models for Polymeric Micelles. *Macromolecules* 1993, 26, 4324–4331.
- (178) van der Made, A. W.; Van Leeuwen, P. W. N. M. Silane Dendrimers. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 1400-1401.
 (179) van der Made, A. W.; Van Leeuwen, P. W. N. M.; de Wilde, J.
- (179) van der Made, A. W.; Van Leeuwen, P. W. N. M.; de Wilde, J. C.; Brandes, R. A. C. Dendrimeric Silanes. *Adv. Mater.* **1993**, *5* (6), 466–468.
- (180) Seyferth, D.; Son, D. Y.; Rheingold, A. L.; Ostrander, R. L. Synthesis of an Organosilicon Dendrimer Containing 324 Si-H Bonds. *Organometallics* 1994, 13, 2682–2690.
- (181) Devadoss, C.; Bharathi, P.; Moore, J. S. Energy Transfer in Dendritic Macromolecules - Molecular Size Effects and the Role of an Energy Gradient. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 9635– 9644.
- (182) Stewart, G. M.; Fox, M. A. Chromophore-Labeled Dendrons as Light Harvesting Antennae. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 4354– 4360.
- (183) Chang, H. T.; Chen, C. T.; Kondo, T.; Siuzdak, G.; Sharpless, K. B. Asymmetric Dihydroxylation Enables Rapid Construction of Chiral Dendrimers Based on 1,2-Diols. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1996**, *35*, 182–186.
- (184) Kremers, J. A.; Meijer, E. W. Synthesis and Characterization of a Chiral Dendrimer Derived From Pentaerythritol. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 4262-4266.
- (185) Lapierre, J. M.; Skobridis, K.; Seebach, D. Preparation of Chiral Building Blocks for Starburst Dendrimer Synthesis. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1993**, *76*, 2419–2432.
- (186) Seebach, D.; Lapierre, J. M.; Jaworek, W.; Seiler, P. A Simple Procedure for the Preparation of Chiral Tris(hydroxymethyl)methane Derivatives. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1993**, *76*, 459–475.
- (187) Seebach, D.; Lapierre, J. M.; Skobridis, K.; Greiveldinger, G. Chiral Dendrimers From Tris(hydroxymethyl)methane Derivatives. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* 1994, *33*, 440–442.
 (188) Seebach, D.; Lapierre, J. M.; Skobridis, K.; Greiveldinger, G.
- (188) Seebach, D.; Lapierre, J. M.; Skobridis, K.; Greiveldinger, G. Chiral Tris(hydroxymethyl)methane Derivatives as Synthons for Chiral Dendrimers. *Angew. Chem.* **1994**, *106*, 457–458; *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.*, 440–442.
- (189) Seebach, D.; Lapierre, J. M.; Greiveldinger, G.; Skobridis, K. Synthesis of Chiral Starburst Dendrimers From PHB-Derived Triols as Central Cores. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1994**, 1673–1688.
- (190) Mcgrath, D. V.; Wu, M. J.; Chaudhry, U. An Approach To Highly Functionalized Dendrimers From Chiral, Non-Racemic Synthetic Monomers. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 6077–6080.
 (191) Chow, H. F.; Mak, C. C. Facile Preparation of Optically Active
- (191) Chow, H. F.; Mak, C. C. Facile Preparation of Optically Active Dendritic Fragments Containing Multiple Tartrate-Derived Chiral Units. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 5935–5938.
 (192) Leduc, M. R.; Hawker, C. J.; Dao, J.; Fréchet, J. M. J. Dendritic
- (192) Leduc, M. R.; Hawker, C. J.; Dao, J.; Fréchet, J. M. J. Dendritic Initiators for Living Radical Polymerizations - A Versatile Approach to the Synthesis of Dendritic-Linear Block Copolymers. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 1111–11118.
- (193) Neubert, I.; Amoulongkirstein, E.; Schluter, A. D.; Dautzenberg, H. Polymerization of Styrenes Carrying Dendrons of the First, Second and Third Generation. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* 1996, *17*, 517–527.
- (194) Gauthier, M.; Li, W.; Tichagwa, L. Structural Rigidity Control in Arborescent Graft Polymers: Viscosity and Differential Scanning Calorimetry Studies. *Polym. Mater. Sci. Eng.* **1995**, *73*, 232–233.
- (195) Yin, R.; Swanson, D. R.; Tomalia, D. A. Combburst Polymers: Synthesis of High Molecular Weight Water-Soluble Systems. *Polym. Mater. Sci. Eng.* **1995**, *73*, 277–278.
 (196) Zeng, F. W.; Zimmerman, S. C. Rapid Synthesis of Dendrimers
- (196) Zeng, F. W.; Zimmerman, S. C. Rapid Synthesis of Dendrimers By An Orthogonal Coupling Strategy. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 5326–5327.
- (197) Hawker, C. J.; Fréchet, J. M. J.; Grubbs, R. B.; Dao, J. Preparation of Hyperbranched and Star Polymers By A "Living", Self-Condensing Free Radical Polymerization. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 10763.
- (198) Fréchet, J. M. J.; Henmi, M.; Gitsov, I.; Aoshima, S.; Leduc, M. R.; Grubbs, R.B. Self-Condensing Vinyl Polymerization: An Approach To Dendritic Materials. *Science* **1995**, *269*, 1080–1083.
- (199) Malmstrom, E.; Johansson, M.; Hult, A. The Effect of Terminal Alkyl Chains on Hyperbranched Polyesters Based on 2,2-Bis-(hydroxymethyl)propionic Acid. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.* 1996, 197, 3199–3207.
- (200) Brenner, A. R.; Voit, B. I. Free Radical Grafting From Hyperbranched Polyesters Based on Polymeric Azo Initiators. *Macro*mol. Chem. Phys. **1996**, 197, 2673–2689.
- (201) Hawker, C. J.; Chu, F. K. Hyperbranched Poly(ether ketones) -Manipulation of Structure and Physical Properties. *Macromolecules* 1996, 29, 4370-4380.

CR9603892